
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

POLICY AND RESOURCES CABINET COMMITTEE 

 
Wednesday, 23rd November, 2022 

 
2.00 pm 

 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, 

Maidstone 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 

 



 

 
 

 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

POLICY AND RESOURCES CABINET COMMITTEE 
 
 

Wednesday, 23 November 2022, at 2.00 pm Ask for: Theresa Grayell 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County 
Hall, Maidstone 

Telephone: 03000 416172 

   
 
Membership (16) 
 
Conservative (12): Mr R J Thomas (Chair), Mr P V Barrington-King, Mr P Bartlett, 

Mr T Bond, Mr T Cannon, Mr N J D Chard, Mr G Cooke, 
Mr P C Cooper, Mr M Dendor, Mr R C Love, OBE, Mr J P McInroy 
and Vacancy 
 

Labour (2): Mr A Brady and Dr L Sullivan 
 

Liberal Democrat (1): 
 
Green and 
Independent (1): 

Mr A J Hook 
 
Rich Lehmann 

 
UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 

(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 
 

1 Introduction/Webcast announcement  

2 Membership - to note that Rich Lehmann has replaced Paul Stepto as the Green 
and Independents' representative on the committee  

3 Apologies and Substitutes  

4 Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the Agenda  

5 Minutes of the meeting held on 11 October 2022 (Pages 1 - 8) 

6 Annual Equality and Diversity Report 2021-22 (Pages 9 - 60) 



7 Disposal of the Former Laleham Gap School, Southcliffe Parade, Broadstairs 
CT10 1TJ (Pages 61 - 74) 

8 Work Programme 2023 (Pages 75 - 80) 

Motion to exclude the press and public for exempt business 

That, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following business on the grounds that it involves the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act. 
 
Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information) 
 

EXEMPT ITEMS 
 

(During these items the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the press and public) 
 

9 Property Accommodation Strategy -Strategic Headquarters Update and Next 
Steps (Pages 81 - 108) 

10 Commissioning of Legal Services - verbal update  

 
 
 
Benjamin Watts 
General Counsel 
03000 416814 
 
 
Tuesday, 15 November 2022 
 
 



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

POLICY AND RESOURCES CABINET COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Policy and Resources Cabinet Committee held in the 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Tuesday, 11 October 
2022 
 
PRESENT: Mr R J Thomas (Chair), Mr N Baker (Substitute for Mr P V Barrington-
King), Mr P Bartlett, Mr T Bond, Mr A Brady, Mr T Cannon, Mr N J D Chard, 
Mr M Dendor, Mr A J Hook, Mr D Jeffrey (Substitute for Mr G Cooke), 
Mr R C Love, OBE, Mr J P McInroy, Mr P Stepto and Dr L Sullivan 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr P J Oakford 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs A Beer (Deputy Chief Executive), Ms Z Cooke (Corporate 
Director of Finance), Mr D Shipton (Head of Finance Policy, Planning and Strategy), 
Mrs R Spore (Director of Infrastructure), Mr B Watts (General Counsel), Mr D Whittle 
(Director of Strategy, Policy, Relationships and Corporate Assurance), 
Ms A Agyepong (Assistant Director (Countywide) Adult Social Care and Health), 
Ms S Annan-Veitch (Policy Advisor), Mr A Carty, Mr S Dodd (Investment and 
Development Consultant), Ms K Frearson (Head of Property Strategy, Infrastructure), 
Ms R Kennard (Chief Analyst, Strategic Commissioning Analytics), Ms C Maynard 
(Head of Commissioning Portfolio - Outcome 2 and 3), Mr J Sanderson (Head of 
Property Operations), Ms J Taylor (Head of Capital Works), Miss T A Grayell 
(Democratic Services Officer) and Hayley Savage (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
101. Apologies and Substitutes  
(Item 2) 
 
1. Apologies for absence had been received from Mr P Barrington-King and Mr G 
Cooke.  
 
2. Mr N Baker was present as a substitute for Mr Barrington-King and Mr D 
Jeffrey for Mr Cooke.  
 
102. Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the Agenda  
(Item 3) 
 
In relation to agenda item 5, Dr L Sullivan declared that her husband served as the 
Chair of Gravesham Borough Council’s Community Safety Panel and held the 
Cabinet Portfolio which included Crime and Disorder.  
 
103. Minutes of the meeting held on 13 July 2022  
(Item 4) 
 
1. It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 13 July 2022 are 
correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman. There were two matters 
arising:-  

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 

 
a) in minute 88, Mr Love reminded the committee that the list of meeting 

dates announced at the July meeting had since changed to accommodate 
the period of national mourning and a subsequent adjustment to the 
autumn meeting cycle. The updated meeting dates are as follows:  
 
Wednesday, 23 November 2022, 2pm 
Wednesday, 18 January 2022, 10am 
Thursday, 9 March 2023, 10am 
Thursday, 11 May 2023, 10am 
Tuesday, 4 July 2023, 2 pm 

 
b) in minute 89, paragraph 1.b), Mr Brady reminded the committee that the 

inclusion in reports of full details of procurement costs of any project had 
been requested and promised but was not yet happening. Mr Watts 
advised that the Corporate Management Team had been told that this 
should be done for future reports and he undertook that this inclusion 
would indeed be made in reports to the committee’s November meeting. 
He said he would ask the clerk to forward to him any report which included 
a procurement element and that, if he was not satisfied that sufficient cost 
detail had been presented, he would not allow the report to go forward for 
publication in the agenda pack.   

 
104. Domestic Abuse – The Kent Picture  
(Item 5) 
 
Dr L Sullivan declared that her husband served as the Chair of Gravesham Borough 
Council’s Community Safety Panel and held the Cabinet Portfolio which included 
Crime and Disorder.  
 
1. Mr D Whittle, Ms S Annan-Veitch, Mrs A Beer and Ms A Agyepong responded 
to comments and questions from the committee, including the following:- 
    

a) asked if female staff would be surveyed to see if they felt safe working for 
the County Council, and if they would be happy for their daughters to work 
for the Council, Mrs Beer advised that the 2022 staff survey, just launched, 
included a question about feeling safe at work, so data from this would 
become available later;  

 
b) asked about the provision and spending of Government funding, and why 

there was an underspend in the last financial year, Mr Whittle advised that 
the 2021/22 funding had been provided to councils ‘in year’ and that the 
establishment of new arrangements, including resourcing and staffing, took 
time and hence had led to an underspend.  He also advised that all south-
east authorities had been in a similar situation and, as a result, the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) had 
agreed that funds could be rolled forward to the next financial year;  

 
c) asked why money used to address governance and administrative issues, 

for example, increasing data capture, was not spent instead on frontline 
services, Mr Whittle advised that the duties under the Act and the grant 
provided by Government didn’t only relate to the provision of safe 

Page 2



 

accommodation but was to support the new statutory multi-agency 
Domestic Abuse Partnership and the needs assessment on which the 
Domestic Abuse Strategy and commissioning activity was based. As such, 
these were legitimate costs necessary to meet the statutory obligations; 

 
d) asked for a breakdown of this spending, beyond the information included in 

the appendix to the report, Mr Whittle undertook to provide more detailed 
information after the meeting.  He also suggested that the committee have 
a regular update report on work to address domestic abuse, perhaps six-
monthly or annually;  

 
e) Ms Annan-Veitch advised that the service was very proud of having 

recently received accreditation by the White Ribbon Campaign.  Domestic 
abuse was a very difficult and complex subject to address and this was an 
indication that what the Council was doing was effective. In addition, the 
Lived Experience Engagement Programme (LEEP) was a good example of 
partnership working and engagement, to help the Council understand the 
experiences of those who have lived through domestic abuse.  Ms 
Agyepong, Chair of the Partnership Board, commented on the good work 
going on in local authorities to address issues around domestic abuse and 
said the Act had brought a good opportunity to address to work together to 
address needs;  

 
f) a view was expressed that more provision was needed for children to be 

accommodated at refuges, as many parents would not leave an abusive 
relationship if they could not take their children with them.  This should be 
the highest priority.  Ms Annan-Veitch advised that the Children’s 
Commissioner had also identified this issue as a priority to be addressed; 
and 

 
g) another speaker added that refuges for men were also needed, as 26% of 

cases of domestic abuse were against men. Only 1 in 20 male victims were 
known to seek help.  All victims of domestic abuse should have equal 
access to shelter and support.  

 
2. The Chair acknowledged the good work going on to address issues around 
domestic abuse and agreed that the Council should continue to pursue funding to 
support his work.  
 
3. It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in 

response to comments and questions be noted, with thanks, and that regular 
update reports be submitted to the committee, at a frequency to be agreed. 

 
105. Performance Dashboard for the Chief Executive's Department and Deputy 
Chief Executive's Department  
(Item 6) 
 
1. Ms Kennard introduced the report and advised that, since publishing the 
report, data had become available for HR25, with the rating achieved being green. Mr 
Watts and Mrs Beer then responded to comments and questions from the committee, 
including the following:- 
 

Page 3



 

a) in response to questions about KPI CS07 – percentage of complaints 
responded to in timescale - Mrs Beer advised that, whilst no change was 
planned to the complaints policy, work was ongoing to ensure the 
complaints process was efficient, and data was regularly monitored and 
reviewed to take steps to lower the number of complaints needing to be 
dealt with;    

 
b) asked about the themes of Freedom of Information (FOI) requests and why 

people asked what they did, Mr Watts advised that he would be able to 
report more detail for the committee on FOI requests in the near future as 
new work in this area had recently been started with the appointment of a 
team of graduates, tasked to research this area. He advised that both FOI 
and data subject requests were subject to a corporate key performance 
indicator but that data subject requests were not part of the FOI legislation 
but were covered by the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). 
Subject data subject requests tended to increase after showings of 
television programmes in which people traced lost family members. They 
took time to respond to, as a social worker may have to review the content 
of personal files, for example, in relation to a vulnerable person, before 
they could be provided to the questioner. The Government may decide to 
review or repeal GDPR legislation in the near future and the outcome of 
this would have an impact of this area of the Council’s work;  

 
c) in response to queries about the reasons for the percentage of daytime 

telephone calls answered being lower than target, Mrs Beer confirmed that 
retention and recruitment of staff was a national problem for call centres in 
the current buoyant recruitment market.  She confirmed that the Council 
continued to work closely with Agilisys, who provided the call centre 
service, on a range of measures, to address these issues. It was important 
to ensure that residents could find the information they needed or make 
contact with the County Council in a number of ways, including online.  
This would help manage the volume of calls to Contact Point.  In response 
to a comment about the search engine on kent.gov, Mrs Beer confirmed 
that a review of the website was part of the Resident and User Experience 
Programme; 
 

d) the Chair commented that, previously, a Member IT group had existed to 
discuss and comment on issues such as the website development. Mr 
Watts added that such groups could be re-established if required but would 
need to be resourced;  

 
e) asked how many people submitting FOIs were seeking Judicial Review, Mr 

Watts advised that a very small percentage sought referral to the 
Information Commissioner’s Office or a Judicial Review.  He commented 
that the FOI legislation was over 20 years old and had come into force at a 
time when personal internet access and local authority websites did not 
exist as they did now to help people find basic information for themselves, 
and that, subsequently, the nature of information now requested via FOI 
was more complex. People also sought data in different forms from that in 
which it was usually recorded. He undertook to include more statistics and 
detail in report to a later meeting; and  

 

Page 4



 

f) asked how the performance of the Chief Executive’s and Deputy Chief 
Executive’s Directorate compared to that of other Directorates, Mrs Beer 
undertook to respond to the questioner outside the meeting.  

 
2. It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in 

response to comments and questions be noted, with thanks, and that a more 
detailed report on Freedom of Interest requests be made to a future meeting.  

 
106. Council Tax Update  
(Item 7) 
 
1. Mr Shipton introduced the report and advised that any change to Council Tax 
would need to be agreed by District Councils in partnership with the County Council. 
He then responded to comments and questions from the committee, including the 
following:- 
 

a) asked about the process, and what role Members were expected to take in 
it, Mr Shipton advised that part of the aim of the report was to get a steer 
from Members about the approach they wanted to be taken and what input 
they wanted to have, as District Councils across the county had different 
processes and Council Tax Reduction schemes;  

 
b) asked why there was such disparity, and what support councils would offer 

families who were struggling to pay, Mr Shipton advised that all District 
Councils have introduced hardship schemes following the 2017 scheme 
review, and that the County Council would contribute to these schemes.  
These arrangements were now being reviewed. There would inevitably be 
some disparity between issues experienced in different areas of the 
county, due to different types of accommodation and tenure, for example, 
higher or lower levels of tenancy and owner-occupancy in any one area;      
 

c) Ms Cooke advised that the first stage of the process would be to carry out 
a review, taking account of Members’ wishes and liaising with District 
Council colleagues, and then report back to the committee and Cabinet 
Member before moving to the next stage, as the subject area was very 
complex. This report was to give Members advance notice of this process, 
which was welcomed; 

 
d) Mr Watts advised that any material change to be made to the Council Tax 

process would need to be the subject of a key decision as part of the 
County Council’s decision-making process; and 

 
e) concern was expressed that the Council should be seen to be genuinely 

consultative and not dictatorial.   
 

2. It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in 
response to comments and questions, in particular:  
 
a) approaches to increasing future years’ tax base; 
b) the approach to monitoring Council Tax collection and factors affecting 

future tax base; 
c) a review of Local Council Tax Reduction Schemes: 

Page 5



 

d) a review the support/incentive payments the County Council provides to 
District Councils: 

e) the County Council’s response to the proposed changes to Council Tax 
under the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill: and 

f) the risk to Council Tax from economic recession. 
 
be noted, with thanks.  

 
107. 22/00027 - Disposal of Saxon House, Tina Gardens, Broadstairs, CT10 1BJ  
(Item 8) 
 
1. The Cabinet Member, Mr P Oakford, introduced the report and reminded the 
committee of the Council’s responsibility, when disposing of premises which were 
surplus to requirements, to achieve best value for public money. He then responded 
to comments and questions from the committee, including the following:- 
 

a) asked for assurance that the open green space at the site would be 
protected, Mr Oakford advised that the future use of the site, once 
disposed of by the County Council, would be a decision for Thanet District 
Council as planning authority; and    

 
b) asked if, by disposing of the site, the County Council was going against its 

own strategic statement to protect its green open spaces as an asset, Mr 
Oakford reminded the committee that the Council’s duty was to secure the 
best price for any site which had been declared surplus to service 
requirements under its disposals policy, and hence secure best value for 
public money. 

 
2.   It was RESOLVED that the decision proposed to be taken by the Deputy 

Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, Corporate and Traded Services, to 
agree to the disposal of the site and delegate authority to:  

 
a) the Director of Infrastructure, in consultation with the Deputy Leader and 

Cabinet Member for Finance, Corporate and Traded Services, to finalise 
the terms of the disposal; and 

 
b) the Director of Infrastructure, to authorise the execution of all necessary or 

desirable documentation required to implement the above,  
 

  be endorsed.  
 
108. Facilities Management Update  
(Item 9) 
 
1. Mrs R Spore and Mr J Sanderson responded to comments and questions from 
the committee, including the following:- 
  

a) asked about the need for more detail of procurement costs, as covered in 
the minutes of the July meeting and discussed earlier in the meeting, Mrs 
Spore confirmed that these costs were included in previous reports 
presented at this committee;  

 

Page 6



 

b) plans for user and stakeholder satisfaction surveys were welcomed but 
concern was expressed that, when surveys had been undertaken in the 
past, levels of satisfaction with performance had generally been low. An 
example of Northfleet Youth Centre was given and Mr Sanderson advised 
that some remedial works had been completed at the centre at no cost to 
the KCC. Longer-term replacement works were required but were not 
currently in the planned programme of works. Given the budget 
constraints, the strategy adopted was keeping premises ‘warm, safe and 
dry’ (WSD) rather than modernisation; 

 
c) Mr Sanderson advised that he wanted to be advised by the committee 

about what future information Members wanted to see reported; 
 
d) asked about the failure so far to identify a suitable contractor for security, 

reception and other services, and how confident the KCC was of finding a 
suitable contractor. Mrs Spore advised that the KCC was liaising with the 
current provider about continuing for a further fixed-term contract of up to 
two years; and 

 
e) asked why reception services were contracted out rather than provided in-

house, Mrs Spore advised that this was an option for future provision but 
that, in the short term, a new contract needed to start on 1 November 
2022.   

 
2. It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and in response to 

comments and questions be noted, with thanks.  
 
109. Corporate Estate - 10 year planned maintenance predicted spend  
(Item 10) 
 
1. Mr Oakford, Mrs Spore and Mr Watts responded to comments and questions 
from the committee, including the following:- 
 

a) asked about plans for the future of the Strategic Headquarters (SHQ), Mr 
Oakford reminded the committee that several progress reports on the 
future of SHQ had been submitted to the committee over time and that a 
key decision report would be brought to the  November meeting; 

 
b) asked about whose decision it would be to either maintain or close a 

building, Mr Oakford advised that a decision had been made ten years ago 
that savings property assets would need to be made to support front line 
service delivery, and these savings were now becoming apparent in the 
form of proposals to close and dispose of premises which were surplus to 
service requirements and discussions about maintenance, for example, of 
the SHQ buildings. Focus was now more on maintaining and improving 
premises which the Council intended to retain in the longer-term. Part of 
this picture would be changes to work practices which had arisen in recent 
years and been exacerbated by lockdowns during the pandemic; 

 
c) Mr Oakford confirmed that had weekly meetings with Mrs Spore to monitor 

maintenance and monthly meetings with Property and Education teams 
about the County Council’s estate. He advised that it was for the Chair to 

Page 7



 

decide how often reports on the condition and maintenance of the County 
Council estate should be made to the committee.  The Chair suggested 
that it would be sensible to look at maintenance as part of the main budget 
setting in the new year;  

 
d) Mr Watts added that any part of a premises proposed for sale would need 

to be the subject of a specific key decision, before marketing could begin, 
and part of this decision paperwork would be to include the vision for the 
future. Mr Oakford advised that work to SHQ which was the subject of a 
key decision in 2021 was currently starting but no key decision on the 
future use of SHQ had yet been taken; 

 
e) asked about the ‘warm, safe, dry’ (WSD) policy, Mr Oakford reminded that 

previous reports on maintenance issues of SHQ showed that that work had 
exceeded the WSD policy.  Mrs Spore offered to bring a report to the 
committee to set out and help Members understand the WSD policy.  
Ongoing surveys would ensure that robust data would be available but 
funding available covered the bare minimum and made planning a future 
programme very difficult.  She reassured Members that no County Council 
building would continue to be used if it was deemed unsafe under Health 
and Safety legislation; and  

 
f) asked what information about a local premises proposed for disposal would 

be made available to a local Member, and when, Mr Oakford advise that 
the Local Member/s for a site would always be engaged as part of the 
Council’s formal decision-making process. It was not known yet which 
buildings might yet be considered for disposal in the future as an ongoing 
review was currently in progress.      

 
2. It was RESOLVED that the progress and the current cost data, based on 

surveys completed, be noted, with thanks.  
 
110. Work Programme 2022/23  
(Item 11) 
 
It was RESOLVED that the committee’s planned work programme for 2022/23 be 
noted.  
 
 
 

Page 8



 

 

From:   Roger Gough, Leader of the Council  
    
   David Cockburn, Corporate Director of Strategic and Corporate 

Services  
 
To:   Policy and Resources Cabinet Committee, 23 November 2022  
    
Subject:  Annual Equality and Diversity Report 2021-22 
   
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
Past Pathway of report:  Corporate Management Team 
 
Future Pathway of report: N/A 
 

 
Summary:  
This report sets out progress against Kent County Council’s Equality and Human 
Rights Policy and Objectives, which is a statutory requirement under the Equality Act 
2010. 
 
Recommendation:   
The Policy and Resources Cabinet Committee is asked to approve the Annual 
Equality and Diversity Report for 2021-22, attached as Appendix A 
 

 

1. Introduction 
  

1.1 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 introduced the Public Sector Equality Duty 
(PSED) which came into force in April 2011. It requires public bodies to have 
due regard to the need to: 
 

a. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Equality Act; 

b. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not;  

c. Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not (the protected characteristics are 
age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, marriage and civil partnership, sex and sexual 
orientation).  

 
1.2  In addition, the Equality Act regulations require that public authorities publish: 
 

a. Equality objectives, at least every four years. 
b. An Annual Equality and Diversity Report by 31 January the following 

year.  
 
1.3 The report appended to this paper discharges the council’s statutory duty to 

produce and publish an annual Equality and Diversity Report. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 

 

2. Annual Review 
 

2.2 The annual report draws together the directorates’ activity that contributed 
towards KCC’s 2016-2020 equality objectives, which were extended until the 
close of the 2021-22 financial year due to the pandemic. As with previous years, 
the report aligns the objectives to the Equality and Human Rights Commission’s 
six ‘domains’ that are important to people’s quality of life:  

 Work 

 Education 

 Living Standards 

 Health 

 Justice & Personal Security 

 Participation 
 
2.3 As this is the last year of reporting against the 2016-2020 objectives, the 

compilation of the 2021-22 annual report followed the same approach as for the 
previous year, for the purpose of consistency. Therefore information was sought 
directly from KCC’s services via the Corporate Equality Group’s directorate 
representatives to inform the report, rather than requiring directorates to 
produce their own reports for their respective cabinet committees.  
 

2.4 Review of KCC’s annual report for 2021-22 demonstrates that through the 
recovery phase of the pandemic, services have continued to focus on 
understanding and delivering to the needs of people in Kent and within KCC’s 
workforce who have protected characteristics. In the return to business-as-usual 
working, improvements have been made across the Council’s services to drive 
equalities outcomes. This included the response to emerging equalities issues 
with the support provided to Afghan and Ukrainian refugees, as well as efforts 
to mitigate digital exclusion by the reintroduction of physical services, where 
appropriate.   

 
2.5 In 2021-22 there has been an evident emphasis on engagement activity in the 

development and delivery of services. There have been examples across the 
directorates of engagement taking place with charitable organisations to 
develop the understanding and support offer for people from protected 
characteristic groups. Engagement activity undertaken by GET informed the 
further development of the permanent booking system at Household Waste 
Recycling Centres to help those with reduced mobility or chronic conditions. 
ASCH and CYPE have involved people with lived experience in the 
development of a number of their strategies and procurement activities, 
including the Learning Disability and Autism Strategy and the Young Carers 
Service. This engagement work has been able to shape these projects to 
ensure that they better reflect the needs and preferences of service users.  

 
2.6 Services have taken a real focus on developing equality data collection and 

analysis, using this information to identify both underrepresented and 
overrepresented groups amongst their service user cohorts. This analysis has 
enabled services to better engage with underrepresented groups and where 
barriers to accessing services were identified, address these. A real success in 
this area was the GET project which engaged with the Nepalese community in 
Folkestone and Dover to celebrate the Nepalese Udhauli Festival on the cliffs of 
Dover, encouraging older people in the community who do not usually leave 

Page 10



 

 

their residential area to enjoy the area of natural beauty. Workforce data 
collection and analysis has also expanded, with HR’s utilisation of the inclusivity 
indicator to monitor inclusion and identify areas for improvement.  

 
2.7 The report has indicated that there has been significant emphasis over 2021-22 

on young people who may experience intersectional impact due to the 
combination of their age and other protected characteristics. In many cases, 
work in this area has been supported by The Education People’s Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion Team (EDIT), who offered support and training around 
young people who are gender diverse, trans or non-binary, have English as an 
additional language, have experienced racist incidents, or come from a Gypsy, 
Roma or Traveller background. Work has also been undertaken to support 
young people who have Special Educational Needs and Disabilities, with regard 
to their attaining supported employment, apprenticeship and training 
opportunities.   

 
2.8 2021-22 has also demonstrated a significant strengthening and sharing of 

equalities expertise, with ASCH developing expertise around spirituality, 
communication needs, domestic abuse, male suicide and working with 
marginalised communities, which were shared at support sessions arranged by 
Practice Development Officers. EDIT has also provided guidance to teams 
across the Council in a number of areas, particularly with regard to the 
development of support offered to Ukrainian refugees. 

 
2.9 A key part of demonstrating how KCC is upholding its PSED duties is 

evidencing that decision makers have considered equalities implications as part 
of the decision-making process. Analysis of committee papers during 2021-22 
showed that 93% of committee papers mentioned equalities which is a slight 
decrease on last year, but still significantly higher than preceding years. There 
was also a fall in the number of reports that had an Equality Impact Assessment 
(EqIA) attached from 56% in 2020-21, to 39% in 2021-22, although the number 
that included a link to an EqIA increased from 14% to 25%. It is possible that 
these changes are attributable to the return to business-as-usual working post-
pandemic. And it is worth noting that the majority of Key Decision reports in the 
last two years that do not have an EqIA linked or attached had still mentioned 
that an EqIA had been completed. Therefore, whilst it is reassuring to confirm 
that equality analysis is taking place, this indicates an area of improvement to 
be taken forward regarding governance.  

 

3. Looking Ahead 
 
3.1 As reporting against the 2016-2020 objectives comes to a close, the Council’s 

services can utilise the successes and learning opportunities of the past year to 
successfully deliver on the new organisation-wide objectives. These corporate 
equality objectives were published in May 2022 as part of the new Council 
Strategy ‘Framing Kent’s Future’. This is the first time we have integrated 
equality objectives into the council’s strategy, thereby making a clear 
commitment to embedding equality in everything we do. 

 
3.2 Looking ahead, our focus will be on the development of a council-wide 

framework to achieve and monitor these objectives over the next four years. 

Page 11



 

 

Many of the areas of success of 2021-22 can be utilised in the development of 
this framework for the delivery of improved data collection and analysis, 
targeting digital exclusion, and delivering equalities outcomes through supply 
chains, as well as working with our strategic partnerships to do so. Alongside 
utilising our learning opportunities, the release of the 2021 census information 
later in 2022 will offer the opportunity to further develop the Council’s 
understanding of its residents and service users, and their needs arising from 
their protected characteristics, which can be used to shape service 
development and delivery.  

 
3.3  KCC’s EqIA App and dashboard also constitutes a useful analytical tool in the 

development of the monitoring framework and improvement of council-wide 
equalities outcomes going forward. The App was launched in June 2021 in 
order to streamline the process of completing an EqIA and was confirmed to 
have been well received in a user survey conducted in summer 2022. EqIA 
information collected by the App feeds into an automated Dashboard which can 
be used to identify trends in equality analysis and impacts across the Council. 
The Dashboard indicates that during the first year of operation (June 2021 to 
March 2022), 84 EqIAs were published via the App, and provides insight into 
aspects such as which protected characteristics were being impacted and 
through which types of council activity. Going forward, the Dashboard will be 
developed further as a tool to assist in the monitoring of the Council’s equalities 
analysis, inform the delivery of the new corporate equality objectives, and 
highlight areas of focus with a regular report to be produced to feed 
conversations at the Corporate Equality Group and Corporate Management 
Team.  

 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications. 
 

5. Legal implications 
 

5.1 Under the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) (Section 149 of the Equality Act 
2010), the Council is required to publish an Annual Equality and Diversity 
Report by 31 January the following year.  
 

6. Equalities implications  
 

6.1 As the Annual Equality and Diversity Report relates to performance monitoring 
on the previous year’s work there is no requirement to undertake an EqIA, 
however it is anticipated that learnings from the report will have a positive 
impact for all protected characteristic groups. The report highlights some 
specific opportunities for improvement in equalities outcomes that the Council 
began to take forward outside of the reporting period. These included: 

 

 The Lessons Learned review and subsequent actions regarding the 
changes made to the SEND Transport arrangements.  

 Review and amendment to the Council’s strategy for supporting Staff 
Groups. 

Page 12



 

 

 Introduction of a number of HR activities in response to the results of the 
Inclusivity Indicator.  

 Continuing development of the EqIA App Dashboard and introduction of 
process improvements to ensure all Key Decision reports attach an EqIA. 

 

7. Conclusions  
 

7.1 The Annual Report for 2021-22 highlights that KCC’s services have kept 
equalities and protected characteristics central in the return to business-as-
usual post-pandemic, with the year’s successes and learning opportunities 
putting the Council in a good position to take forward the new corporate equality 
objectives for 2022-2026. The report shows that services’ understanding of the 
protected characteristics of actual and potential service users continues to 
develop, and alongside evolving equalities expertise and engagement, services 
have been able to make a real difference in delivering equalities outcomes. 
Alongside a focus on mitigating digital exclusion and reintroducing physical 
service provision, services were also able to respond to emerging issues, with 
work being undertaken cross-directorate to: support Afghan and Ukrainian 
refugees in their new communities, tackle prejudice amongst children in 
schools, and promote/improve the accessibility of KCC services. Identified 
areas for improvement constitute useful learning opportunities to be taken 
forward, alongside the other opportunities available to the Council over the 
coming year. These include the awaited Census information that will give an 
updated picture of the people we serve, and the EqIA App Dashboard tool, both 
of which will allow for greater understanding and analysis of protected 
characteristics and equalities outcomes and direct the Council to future areas 
for focus.  

 
 

8. Recommendation(s):  
 

8.1 Cabinet Committee - The Policy and Resources Cabinet Committee is asked to 
approve the Annual Equality and Diversity Report for 2021-22, attached as 
Appendix A. 

 

 

9. Contact details 
 
Report Authors: 
Laura McPherson 
Policy Officer - Equality 
03000 415726 
laura.mcpherson@kent.gov.uk 
 
Karla Phillips 
Strategic Business Adviser 
03000 410315 
karla.phillips@kent.gov.uk  

Relevant Director: 
David Whittle 
Director of Strategy, Policy, Relationships 
& Corporate Assurance 
03000 416883 
david.whittle@kent.gov.uk    
 

 

Page 13

mailto:laura.mcpherson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:karla.phillips@kent.gov.uk
mailto:david.whittle@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Kent County Council 
 
Draft - Annual Equality and Diversity Report for April 2021 to March 2022 
 
 
 
   
 

Contents 

Page 

Introduction 3 

Equality Policy and Local Context 3 

Equality Objectives 2016-2020(21) 6 

 Work 
 

6 

 Education 17 

 Living Standards 22 

 Health 25 

 Justice and Personal Security 30 

 Participation 35 

Looking Ahead 45 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Useful information 
 
This document is available in a range of formats and can be explained in other 
languages.  To ask for an alternative version, please email 
alternativeformats@kent.gov.uk 
Phone with Text relay: 18001 03000 414141 
Or write to: Kent County Council, Room 2.70, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone, Kent, ME14 1XQ 
 

Page 15

mailto:alternativeformats@kent.gov.uk


 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Local Authorities have a legal obligation to publish an annual report as part of 

fulfilling the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). This report provides detail of 
how Kent County Council (KCC) has complied with equality legislation 
between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022, including progress and activities 
contributing to KCC’s equality objectives as set out in the Council’s Equality 
and Diversity Policy.  

 
1.2 The report sets out progress against our objectives using the Equality and 

Human Rights Commission’s six domains, or ‘areas of life’ that are important 
to people and their quality of life: 

 Work 

 Education 

 Living Standards 

 Health 

 Justice and personal security 

 Participation 
 

2. Equality Policy and Local Context 
 

Policy 
2.1 In 2016, the Kent County Council published the Equality and Human Rights 

Policy and Objectives 2016-2020. In light of the COVID-19 pandemic and its 
impact across the county, this policy and its objectives were extended until the 
end of the 2021-22 financial year. A summary of the policy is provided below.   

  
2.2 The Council recognises the diverse needs of our community and is committed 

to promoting equality of opportunity and diversity in employment, 
commissioning and service delivery.  

  
2.3 We value diversity and believe it is essential to provide services which work 

well for all residents and staff. The services KCC designs and delivers, on its 
own or with partners, should focus on maximising independence for people, 
families and communities. We will treat people with dignity and respect and 
help people to be safe and socially included. We will support and enable 
people to make informed choices, so that they will have control over their 
lives. We are committed to working with all statutory partners, businesses and 
the voluntary sector to ensure the best possible outcomes for those who live 
in, work in and visit Kent.  

  
2.4 We will challenge discrimination and encourage respect, understanding and 

dignity for everyone living, working and visiting Kent. This will be achieved 
through our influence in the community, strategic planning, and 
commissioning and policy development in employment and through service 
delivery.  

  

Page 16



 
 

2.5 As a public sector organisation, we follow the Public Sector Equality Duty 
(PSED) under the Equality Act 2010, to protect individuals from discrimination 
on the basis of their protected characteristics. The characteristics are:  

 Age 

 Disability 

 Gender reassignment 

 Marriage and civil partnerships 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

 Race 

 Religion and belief 

 Sex 

 Sexual orientation 
 

Kent’s profile as a County  
2.6  With a resident population of just under 1.6 million, Kent (excluding Medway) 

has the largest population of all the English counties. The following 
information is taken from the 2011 Census.1  

 

 93.7% of all Kent residents are of White ethnic origin – this includes those 
who are White British as well as other identities such as Irish, Eastern 
European origin etc. Kent also has Gypsy, Roma, and Traveller 
populations greater than the national average. 

 The 2011 Census recorded that 6.3% of Kent residents are classified as 
Black or Minority Ethnic (BME). This proportion is lower than the national 
average for England, which is 14.6%. 

 People living in urban areas make up 73% of the Kent population but only 
occupy 21% of the total land area in Kent. 

 The mid-year population estimates note that 51% of the total population of 
Kent identify as female and 49% as male.  

 Significantly in terms of future challenges, Kent has an aging population 
with the number of +65-year-olds forecast to increase by 45% between 
2019 and 2039.  

 Kent has a greater population of children and young people aged 5-19 
years old and people aged 45+ years old than the England average. 

 There is no single quantifiable measure of the number of disabled people 
in Kent (or the UK) because identifying as disabled relies on individuals’ 
self-perception, but it is estimated that 17.6% of Kent (excluding Medway) 
residents have a disability. 

 1,554 civil partnerships were formed between 2006 and 2020 in Kent. This 
dataset only relates to civil partnerships that are formed within Kent. It 
does not necessarily provide a true reflection of the sexual identity of 
people living in Kent.  
 

Further information on social, demographic and economic aspects of Kent can 
be found on our website, by clicking on the Kent Facts and Figures page. 

                                            
1
At the time of writing, the 2021 Census information is not yet available. It is expected to be published in 

stages from October 2022 – December 2022. 

Page 17

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/facts-and-figures-about-Kent


 
 

Kent County Council’s Workforce Profile 
2.7  KCC recognises that the diversity of its workforce is one of its greatest 

strengths. It is committed to promoting equality and inclusivity and combating 
unfair treatment by providing a safe and accessible working environment with 
fair access to learning and development opportunities. The Council 
encourages and supports all staff in fulfilling their potential. 

 
2.8 The section below contains details on how the Council’s workforce is made 

up, focusing on headline statistics, as of March 2022. 
 
 Table 1: KCC Workforce statistics 

 As at March 2022 

Current total number of FTE (non-schools) 7,593.50 

Current total FTE on grades KR6 or below (non-schools 
staff earning salaries up to £22,072) 

2,426.17 

  

% Staff who are female 79.3% (51%)* 

% Of staff who are Black and Minority Ethnic 8.4% (6.6%)* 

% Of staff who have declared a disability 4.5%  

% Of staff who are Lesbian, Gay or Bisexual 2.9% (2.2%)+ 

% Of staff who are Trans-sexual 0.5% 

% Of KCC’s leadership group who are women 59.7% 

Average age of staff 45.5 

% Of staff aged under 25 or below 7.5% 

% Of staff aged over 50 40.5% 

% Of staff aged over 65 4.3% 

 
*The figures in brackets are the percentage of Kent’s population from those groups, as 
identified in the 2011 Census.  There are likely to be significant changes in some metrics – we 
are awaiting the 2021 Census results, expected in Autumn 2022. 
+The figure in brackets is the percentage of people in the South East identifying themselves 
as LGB, as identified in the National Office of Statistics data set published on 6 March 2020. 

 
2.9 It is acknowledged that the gap between the percentage of individuals 

declaring a disability (4.5%) and the census figure (17.6%) does appear wide. 
This gap is influenced by the fact that the census data covers the total of 
Kent’s population, some of whom are not economically active or in 
employment and includes a larger proportion of older people than the Council 
employs, who are more susceptible to developing a health condition that 
would be classified as a disability. This figure is broadly similar to other 
comparable employers. Overall, a greater percentage of disabled people in 
Kent find work compared to the national figure and KCC continues to support 
this as an employer and provider of services to the residents of Kent. 

 
2.10 Since March 2021, there has been an increase in the percentage of staff who 

have declared a disability (by 1.2%), those staff who are Black and Minority 
Ethnic (by 0.5%), and staff who are Lesbian, Gay or Bisexual (by 0.5%). The 
percentage of staff who are female across the workforce decreased slightly 
(by 0.3%) but women in the leadership group increased (by 1.5%).  

 

Page 18



 
 

2.11 The average age of staff increased slightly although there has been a slight 
decrease in the percentage of staff over the age of 50 (1.1%) and 65 (0.1%). 
In contrast, the percentage increase of staff who are under the age of 25 has 
increased (by 1.2%).  

 

3. Equality Objectives 2016-2020(21) 
 
3.1 Each directorate within KCC was asked to provide equality information to 

demonstrate how they contributed to KCC’s equality objectives, as set out in 
the Council’s Equality and Diversity policy, between 1 April 2021 and 31 
March 2022. Their progress towards the objectives and other relevant 
activities are provided under the Equality and Human Rights Commission’s six 
domains of Work, Education, Living Standards, Health, Justice & Personal 
Security, and Participation. 

 

4.  WORK  
 

KCC’s Workforce Equality Objectives 
4.1 2021-22 continued to be challenging for workforce wellbeing as we recovered 

from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. While our workforce profile saw 
some indicators that were less positive than the previous year, there have 
been some improvements to the way in which our staff experience the 
organisation. A lot of activity has taken place over the past year to deliver 
against our workforce equality objectives, with greater emphasis on what 
inclusion means at KCC. Further work is required to continue to build on the 
good work to date. 
 

4.2 Recruit, retain and develop a workforce that reflects the communities we 
serve and ensure our people feel valued and respected 

 
4.3 KCC aims to increase diversity through an inclusive approach to recruitment 

and development and to ensure a working environment which is based on 
mutual respect, consistency, and equity at all levels of the organisation. The 
following initiatives have contributed to this aim: 

 
Recruitment  

4.4 Options for positive action in recruitment have been explored this year; this 
has included research on the effectiveness of job boards targeting under-
represented groups. To attract a more diverse candidate pool, new standard 
wording for job adverts was introduced to promote KCC’s approach to 
diversity and flexible working. Work is continuing to develop and launch a new 
recruitment website with content demonstrating that KCC is an inclusive 
employer. Also, the use of values-based interviewing has been advanced and 
promoted. This is to help managers recruit people with the right values and 
behaviours which we wish to see demonstrated throughout the organisation. 

 

Page 19



 
 

4.5 KCC continues to sustain Level 2 of the Government’s Disability Confident 
standard, which recognises businesses that are actively inclusive in their 
recruitment and retention practices. 

 
4.6 Our recruitment profile improved in terms of those who declared themselves 

to have a disability. In 2021-22, of those applicants to posts, there were 
6.77% who were disabled. 7.71% of those people shortlisted were disabled, 
and 6.64% of those recruited were disabled. The turnover rate of staff who are 
disabled in the last 12 months increased to 14.1% in 2021-22 after a decrease 
in 2020-21 due to COVID-19. This was consistent with the overall 
organisation turnover rate at 14%, which saw a return to pre-pandemic levels. 

 
4.7 Similarly, the recruitment profile for those who are Black and Minority Ethnic 

improved in 2021-22, with an increase in the proportion of applicants who are 
Black and Minority Ethnic (24.55%), those people shortlisted (18.73%) and 
appointed (12.85%). The turnover rate for 2021-22 for Black and Minority 
Ethnic staff increased to 20.1% after a reduction to 12.6% during 2020-21 and 
is slightly higher than pre-pandemic levels (19.3% in 2019-20). The 
recruitment data suggests that we are attracting Black and Minority Ethnic 
staff to join us, which is over and above the profile of existing staff (8.4%) but 
the turnover figure is higher than we would expect to see. Work is underway 
through the Race Action Plan to drive this figure down to be comparable with 
white staff (14%), with a particular focus on creating an inclusive culture and 
to become an anti-racist organisation, as the increased turnover figure is one 
indicator that points to this being an issue we need to address. 

 
4.8 Both the percentage of women and hires aged under 25 increased over the 

last year. The percentage of Lesbian, Gay and Bisexual hires increased, and 
the number of transgender hires increased from 1 to 8 in 2021-22 with a lower 
percentage choosing not to declare. 

 
Apprenticeship levy  

4.9 The apprenticeship levy was introduced in April 2017 and since that time KCC 
has been able to spend these funds (over £2m per year) on Apprenticeship 
training for both new and existing staff of all ages in KCC. Since the 
introduction of the levy, 936 KCC employees have accessed apprenticeship 
training, with 370 employees currently on programmes supporting 
professional development, talent management, or enabling young people to 
begin their careers with KCC. 25% of those currently on apprenticeship 
programmes are aged 25 or under, and 32% of those employees who have 
accessed apprenticeship training since the introduction of the levy were aged 
25 or under. 22% of the total number of training starts are male and 78% 
female.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 
 

4.10 KCC is currently enabling access to over 47 apprenticeship training 
programmes across a wide variety of disciplines and professional areas. In 
2021-22 there were 177 apprenticeship training starts. This demonstrates 
both an increase in the number of programmes available, as well as the 
number of apprenticeship training starts on the previous year. Their profile 
was as follows:  
 

 Age: 6% were aged 16-18, 16% aged 19-24, and 78% aged 25+ 

 Gender distribution: 25% male, 75% female,  

 Ethnicity: 13% were Black or Minority Ethnic, 83% white, and 4% 
undeclared 

 Disability: 6% had a disability, 89% had none, 5% were undeclared  

 Sexual orientation: 3% identified as bisexual, 1% gay, 2% lesbian, 85% 
heterosexual and 9% undeclared. 

 
Kent Graduate Programme  

4.11 Since the launch of the redesigned Kent Graduate Programme in 2019, 19 
graduates were recruited in professional areas such as Project Management, 
Business Improvement, Finance, Regulatory Compliance and Procurement, 
four of these during 2020-21.  

 
Work Experience  

4.12 The ongoing impact of the pandemic on the way staff work has had a further 
impact on the ability of The Education People’s (TEP) Skills and Employability 
Service to offer and manage KCC’s work experience opportunities. Research 
has continued in partnership between Workforce Development in HR and 
TEP’s team to develop a virtual work experience programme and restore a 
face-to-face work experience offer.  

 
Training  

4.13 Equality, diversity and inclusion continue to be embedded in the development, 
delivery and monitoring of corporate training programmes to ensure learning 
resources are suitable for and accessible to all. In 2021-22, analysis of the 
diversity profile of those undertaking learning and development showed that 
both the offer and access to training is inclusive to all staff groups within KCC.  

 
4.14 From 1 April 2021, 1130 Equality and Diversity e-learning courses had been 

completed (which covered Equality and Diversity in Recruitment and 
Selection, Introduction to Equality and Diversity, Care Certificate – Standard 
4: Equality and Diversity and Introduction to Equality Impact Assessment). 
This training supports the embedding of diversity and inclusion into 
management practice and raising awareness on the responsibilities of both 
managers and staff in the workplace.  

 
4.15 The Kent Academy decided to review its Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 

training offer; this will be taken forward in the next financial year by a task and 
finish group to consider if the current offer is sufficient or if there are any 
additional requirements. An event was held during Black History month 2021 
aimed at Social Care staff in Adult’s and Children’s services and looked at 

Page 21



 
 

developing an understanding of how different cultural environments impact 
the experience of people in care as well as social care staff.  

 
Workforce planning  

4.16 The new workforce planning tool, which was developed to help managers and 
the organisation understand current and predicted future workforce 
requirements has been further refined and the revised version is being tested 
across the Authority. Work is continuing on looking at a more technical 
solution to the analysis of the data. One of the many benefits of this approach 
will be a more diverse talent pipeline at all levels of the organisation.  

 
Gender Pay Gap  

4.17 KCC has now posted the fifth Gender Pay Gap report which covers the period 
up to March 2021. The gender pay gap for KCC is significantly below the 
national average. This is positive for KCC, the figures being 12.2% and 15.5% 
respectively. KCC’s gender pay gap is explained by the higher proportion of 
men in the upper middle and upper pay quartiles, although there is a higher 
proportion of women in all quartiles. The proportion of women to men across 
KCC is currently 79% and 21% respectively. Within the lower half of the 
organisation the balance is further in favour of women, however the proportion 
changes by around 10% within the upper quartile. There is therefore still a 
significantly greater proportion of women in each of the pay quartiles.   

 
4.18 KCC is very clear that gender should not limit or define choices in or outside 

of the workplace, as such, we seek to identify and address barriers as a way 
of making practical and positive changes in the context of a supportive 
management culture. The COVID-19 pandemic has provided a lasting impact 
on the way we work. Whilst direct services such as personal care provision - 
predominantly undertaken by women - cannot be delivered remotely, most 
other roles have some degree of flexibility which can be capitalised on. How 
we use buildings, equipment and technology continues to evolve. This has 
implications for the way people work and gives us the opportunity to help 
people reach a healthy balance between their personal and work 
commitments including career development and progression in a way which 
assists both men and women while narrowing the pay gap in the process. 

 
  Workforce Race Equality Standards  
4.19 KCC is one of 18 Local Authorities piloting the ‘Workforce Race Equality 

Standards (WRES) in Social Care Programme’, which is led by the 
Department of Health and Social Care with the objective of developing an 
evidence-based framework to take action to improve race equality across the 
social care workforce. Since the launch in April 2021, the Adult Social Care & 
Health directorate (ASCH) has been collecting and analysing data to identify 
key areas to develop, including recruitment and retention, progression, and 
learning & development opportunities. An action plan was also produced, 
which will be delivered over 2022-23, and will inform if and how a WRES can 
be implemented in social care across Children’s and Adults’ services.  

 
 

Page 22

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/corporate-policies/equality-and-diversity


 
 

4.20 We will continue to be an inclusive employer 
 
4.21 Our new five-year People Strategy 2022-27 was developed during 2021-22, 

which is underpinned by a set of organisation design principles that includes a 
recognition that our staff have different needs, expectations and aspirations 
for work, and values and cultural ambitions. It outlines our vision to support 
people to deliver to the best of their ability, celebrating the skills and talents of 
a diverse workforce. It also outlines our aspiration to continue to be an 
inclusive employer where difference is valued and our people have a sense of 
belonging and trust in the organisation, enabling our staff to be their true 
selves and bring everything they offer to the work they do. The delivery of the 
new strategy will build on the good work achieved to date to become more 
inclusive as follows: 

 
Policy framework  

4.22 Our employment policies and practices continue to be reviewed on a regular 
basis to ensure they are fit for purpose and diversity and inclusion is 
embedded. Equality Impact Assessments (EqIAs) are completed for our 
employment policies to ensure they do not discriminate against the Council’s 
current and future employees and promote inclusion. Menopause guidance 
for managers was introduced this year, and an initial review undertaken of our 
approach to fertility and obesity at work.  

 
Reasonable Adjustments  

4.23 The Council continues to collect and analyse data on the adjustments made 
to ways of working and the equipment employees use in order to understand 
the number of staff receiving support, the types of support required across our 
workforce, and any emerging trends. The process of how data is collated is 
being reviewed as part of our approach to continuous improvement. During 
2021, the number of reasonable adjustments in place decreased by 8.6%, 
mainly due to fewer adjustments for Leave/Absence, which may be explained 
by the change in working arrangements following the pandemic. The number 
of disability passports in use rose by 22%, and the proportion of disabled staff 
requiring adjustments increased by 1% from the previous year. 

 
Digital Accessibility for Staff  

4.24 Having fully accessible ICT systems is essential for staff being able to fulfil 
their roles and undertake learning. The Digital Accessibility Team has 
continued to support the accessibility of ICT systems for staff, completing 53 
manual accessibility audits in the period, widening its accessibility training 
offer, and updating ICT tools and services with new accessibility features.  

 
Total Contribution Pay  

4.25 For the previous reporting period of 2020-21, the same percentage increase 
for all staff was given as part of a general pay award to recognise the impact 
caused by COVID-19. We reverted to the established Total Contribution Pay 
process for 2021-22. Headline figures show progress, as there are higher 
numbers of part time staff receiving higher ratings. However, there is a similar 
increase in full time staff. A greater percentage of female than male staff 

Page 23



 
 

received higher ratings. Staff declaring a disability have continued to see 
higher ratings over the past 4 years, now at its highest level of 38%. 

 
4.26 The revised reporting approach for 2021-22 has been implemented, where 

more equality data was available to the Corporate Management Team (CMT) 
as part of the moderation process and therefore before formal sign off. This is 
a positive change and demonstrates the continued effort to promote the 
equality agenda for part-time workers and treating people equally, 
independent of protected characteristics. 

 
  Leadership and Management in KCC  
4.27  The COVID-19 pandemic and Black Lives Matter movement highlighted 

significant societal inequalities in 2020 which have galvanised KCC to 
accelerate its ambitions of being recognised as an inclusive organisation. 
CMT has held ‘safe space’ conversations with our staff group the Black and 
Minority Ethnic Forum, resulting in greater engagement and robust actions 
leading to improved traction in our equality and inclusive practice.  

 
Race Equality Matters  

4.28 KCC made an organisational commitment to become anti-racist by signing up 
to Race Equality Matters. This aims to raise awareness of race equality in the 
workplace and achieve lasting culture change through a number of initiatives. 
An action plan has been developed to deliver against these commitments and 
there have been visible leadership statements embracing anti-racist 
commitments. During Race Equality week, staff were encouraged to use ‘My 
Name is’ in their email signatures to spell names phonetically and avoid 
mispronunciation. Planning is also underway to launch a reverse mentoring 
scheme, introduce a mandatory inclusion question for use in recruitment, and 
promoting a zero-tolerance approach to discrimination in the workplace.  

 
4.29  ‘Building Inclusive Management’ workshops took place to build the confidence 

and capability across our management population in both having the 
conversations and understanding the accountability mechanisms in place to 
raise Equality, Diversity & Inclusion (ED&I) issues. After a slow start in take 
up, these courses became fully booked, with further workshops planned to 
pick up additional demand. The evaluation shows increased confidence and 
understanding in holding and raising conversations around ED&I and that 
managers valued the opportunity to build their capability in this area. 

 
Communications and engagement 

4.30 Through both our leadership messaging and operational messages, we have 
clearly set out our organisational commitment to inclusion, our expectations, 
and what that looks like in the way we act and make decisions.  This is being 
delivered through:  

 
 

Page 24



 
 

 Our ongoing ‘6Cs of Inclusion’2 campaign  

 Promotion of equality requirements in the way we plan and deliver 
services  

 Promoting our manager expectations and available learning to support 
managing diversity   

 Asking staff to input or update their Equality data via Self-Service to 
support our internal decision-making  

  
4.31  Work continued this year to build awareness and understanding through 

shared staff experiences, different perspectives, and moments of celebration 
with a clear focus on why sharing those moments and milestones is relevant 
and important for all colleagues as members of KCC staff. As part of the 
activity, Staff Group Chairs were engaged in the communications planning of 
celebratory moments for 2021-22 as well as the forward planning of 
engagement communications for 2022-23. A month-long focus on Inclusion 
brought together Diversity, Inclusion and Wellbeing with communications that 
included a spotlight on mental health and Domestic Abuse, supported by 
leadership messaging. In this period, work to identify core KNet content for 
British Sign Language (BSL) translation began, with all future video content to 
have BSL translation as standard.   

 
 Disability Inclusion  
4.32  Improving the experience of disabled staff has also been a priority for the 

organisation over the last year. Activity has focused on creating an 
environment where staff feel comfortable to declare a disability and ensuring 
they get the appropriate support from KCC and increasing workforce 
representation through attracting and retaining more disabled people. We 
continue to engage with our disability staff group, Level Playing Field, to 
inform areas for improvement. 

 
Wellbeing  

4.33 KCC continues to provide a holistic wellbeing offer to support the physical, 
mental and social wellbeing of staff and have seen good levels of 
engagement particularly with the mental wellbeing support and development 
available such as personal resilience and managing mental wellbeing. Given 
the workforce profile, menopause in the workplace has been a priority with 
new menopause guidance for managers and a series of awareness sessions 
held. Campaigns ran in May and October with a focus on wellbeing to 
coincide with celebration events such as World Mental Health day and Mental 
Health awareness week, as part of our organisational commitment to mental 
health.  

 
Measuring Inclusion  

4.34 We continue to measure how inclusive we are as an organisation through our 
new inclusivity indicator, developed in the previous year, which measures 

                                            
2
 The 6 Cs of Inclusion model was adopted to embed inclusion into every aspect of delivering our work: 

Coherence, Commitment, Consciousness, Courage, Connectedness, and Co-Production.  

Page 25



 
 

three aspects of inclusion: psychological safety3, trust in leadership, and 
incidents, and is informed through a number of metrics collected by HR, 
including staff survey responses, turnover, sickness and recruitment data. 
This supports organisational understanding on what we mean by inclusion 
and how staff experience the organisation, providing a robust evidence base 
with which to drive further improvements. When we look at the themes from 
the 2021 staff survey, as detailed in section 4.38, KCC is doing well on 
feelings of inclusion and fair treatment overall but the way in which some of 
our minority groups experience the organisation is not always as positive, and 
this is a consistent picture when we look at these alongside some of the other 
inclusivity indicator metrics. For example, fewer higher performance ratings 
were awarded to disabled (33.7%) and Black or Minority Ethnic staff (26.5%) 
than their colleagues (42.6%). However, the level of diversity at senior 
leadership level has seen an improvement and there has been an overall 
reduction in reported incidents of bullying and harassment at work. 

 

4.35 We will continue to listen and engage with employees 
 

Staff Groups  
4.36 KCC’s staff groups play a leading role in providing support and development 

opportunities for their members as well as advising on policy and practice. 
Our staff groups currently include: Level Playing Field (disabled staff and 
carers), Black and Minority Ethnic Forum, Rainbow (Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual 
and Transgender staff), Aspire (staff aged 30 and under) and Mental Health 
Support Network, which formed in the past year. 

 
4.37  Staff groups have supported awareness raising activities by contributing to 

blogs and events during Black History month, International Day of Persons 
with Disabilities, and Pride Month. For Mental Health awareness week, staff 
groups hosted a joint event which was open to all KCC staff to attend. There 
has also been increasing interest in the formation of new staff groups, such as 
a Single Parent group and Menopause café. 

 

Staff Survey  
4.38 The Staff Survey returned to its full set of questions for Autumn 2021, with 

additional questions looking at staff awareness of the staff group offer.  
  
4.39  Overall, Inclusion and Fair Treatment was a high scoring area (83% positive). 

However, analysis indicated that there are some differences between the way 
certain groups are experiencing the organisation, including: 

 

 Staff identifying as female were less positive about learning and 
development opportunities but more positive about their plans for the 
future with KCC than staff identifying as male.  

 Disabled staff were significantly less positive than non-disabled staff on 
seven out of the fourteen themes of the survey.  

                                            
3
 Psychological safety refers to staff feeling a sense of belonging and acceptance, where they feel able to 

influence decision making at all levels where possible. This is being measured via staff survey questions.  

Page 26



 
 

 Black and Minority Ethnic staff were less positive about pay and benefits 
and their plans for the future with KCC.  

 Staff who identified as Carers were less positive about pay and benefits 
and resources and workload but responded more positively than in 
previous iterations of the survey across many of the other themes.  

  
4.40  In response to these findings, a number of actions are being progressed. A 

campaign to support development and career progression is being developed. 
Briefing sessions have been held with our Level Playing Field staff group to 
deep dive the findings for them as a group. There is a continuing focus 
through whole-council communications on the importance of regular, 
personalised 1:1 conversations to support staff as individuals, alongside 
promotion of our expectations around managing diversity and the support 
available, for example, reasonable adjustments. 

   
 Equality Quality Circles 
4.41  Equality Quality Circles offer an opportunity for the ASCH workforce to get 

involved in making change, with staff who volunteered meeting to discuss 
what they feel the critical issues are and agree projects to take forward. Each 
project group is guided by a Project Officer to facilitate the project from start to 
finish. In 2021-22 there were project groups looking at internal facing issues 
such as making the language of Equality, Diversity and Inclusion a part of 
staff’s every day, and raising awareness of staff with caring responsibilities.  

 

4.42 The Equality Duty will inform all services’ efforts to maximise 
businesses’ potential 

 
4.43 Equality analysis undertaken by the Business Investment Team has 

identified the collection of service users’ protected characteristic information 
as an area for improvement. As a result, the team focused on improving this 
data collection in the past year, working to develop and test a voluntary 
equality and diversity survey for business owners and directors as part of the 
Kent and Medway Business Fund (KMBF) application process. The survey 
will be launched in July 2022, collecting data that will be utilised to identify 
underrepresentation among applicants and any potential unconscious bias in 
the marketing and application process. Alongside this, efforts have been 
made to improve marketing and engagement with underrepresented groups 
amongst existing service users. The service has conducted a review of their 
existing marketing materials ahead of the development of the new KMBF 
Small Business Boost website. 

 
4.44  The C-Care and South East Export Development (SEED) projects provide 

business support through vouchers for Technology Resilience and Green 
Recovery and sector-focused virtual trade missions for exports to international 
markets. Over the past year, these projects have both enhanced their equality 
data collection with the introduction of voluntary diversity questions at the 
point of application. Looking ahead, this data will continue to be collected and 
analysed, with a report on the findings expected in the next period.   

 

Page 27



 
 

4.45 Making sure that organisations delivering services on our behalf, or 
from whom we buy goods and services do so in line with our Equality 
and Human Rights policy 

 
4.46  In April 2021, the first three Community Based Wellbeing contracts 

commenced service delivery, providing activities and support in the 
community to keep people living well and as independently for as long as 
possible. These contracts have already delivered a number of social value 
outcomes, with 35% of the people employed with the organisations delivering 
the Specialist Sensory Wellbeing Support having a disability. 

 
4.47  METRO, an equality and diversity charity, is commissioned by KCC to deliver 

the GET IT condom programme in Kent. Alongside service delivery, METRO 
completes outreach work with communities where there is local need, 
including underserved ethnic minority groups to promote a culture of equity of 
access to sexual health services. METRO also conducts sexual health 
training sessions with professionals to increase awareness around gender 
identity.   

 
4.48  The provider of the Young Carers contract has also taken a focus on the 

delivery of social value outcomes. In fundraising and collecting donations, 
they have been able to enhance the support provided to young carers and 
their families with gifts and resources, as well as providing additional respite 
activities which have included a gym membership and horse-riding lessons for 
individuals.   

 

4.49  Using equality analysis when procuring and commissioning  
 
4.50  In order to ensure equalities considerations are embedded within procurement 

and commissioning, ASCH has introduced a number of innovations to involve 
service users and people with lived experience in these processes. This has 
included members of the Adult Social Care People’s Panel4, people with 
learning disabilities and parents or carers of adults with disabilities joining 
KCC Commissioning panels to evaluate high profile contracts and re-
procurements. Experts by experience have reviewed and scored tender 
documents ahead of the Community Based Wellbeing, People’s Voice and 
Princess Christian Farm contracts being awarded. 

 
Residential and Nursing Care Market Positioning Statement  

4.51  Ahead of the development of the Market Positioning Statement5, a survey was 
co-designed by people with lived experience of residential or nursing care due 
to disability or age, road-tested by members of the People’s Panel and then 
widely distributed. Feedback was received from 138 people and demonstrated 
that those with a social care need generally wanted to stay in their own homes 

                                            
4
 The People’s Panel is made up of people with lived experience who are well-connected to their communities, 

including people who both receive and provide (unpaid) care due to disability or age.  
5
 Market Positioning Statements summarise the supply and demand for a particular service in an area and the 

plans of commissioners for the service going forward. They are thereby able to influence how providers shape 
and plan their provision and delivery.  

Page 28



 
 

as far as possible and build in care and support around them. This feedback 
was reflected in the Market Positioning Statement which sets out the future 
aspirations for how residential and nursing care homes could meet the future 
needs of people in Kent.               

   

4.52  Ensure more young people are able to access progression pathways 
post 16 including an offer of an apprenticeship with regard to disability, 
race, or sex  

 
4.53  The Specialist Employment Service worked with Special Educational 

Needs and Disabilities (SEND) service commissioners within KCC to look at 
the ‘Preparing for Adulthood’ Standards and shape local provision; this was 
then reflected on the KELSI web page, broadcasting the improved, bespoke 
KCC SEND career pathways offer. They also supported employers to look at 
apprenticeships suitable for SEND young people from entry level qualification 
to Level 7. 

 
4.54  The Skills and Employability team and the Specialist Employment Service 

have commenced a post-16 review to inform the planning of the service and 
ensure that young people have access to relevant post-16 pathways. Early 
analysis of this work has identified SEND students as a key group who will 
need further support. Once complete, a strategic Board and Independent 
Chair will be recruited by KCC to develop and monitor an implementation plan 
with support from The Education People (TEP)’s Post-16 Lead. In addition, an 
internal review of how the Skills and Employability Service engage with the 
SEND team has commenced. Analysis is still in progress, with the intention of 
the findings being shared with SEND in the next academic year to identify 
better working practices that will improve service delivery to young people and 
their parents or carers.  

 
4.55  The service has worked closely with the British Association of Supported 

Employment to develop papers looking at career pathways for SEND 
students. As a result of this work, the service has amended its apprenticeship 
requirements for SEND students who will no longer have to gain Level 2 
English and Maths, needing only to evidence that they are working towards 
Level 2. The Service is also currently working with the Department for 
Education to look at quality standards for Supported Internships. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



 
 

EDUCATION  
 

5. Narrowing the achievement gaps with regards to disability, race, or sex 
 

Primary School Improvement 
5.1  The team has used additional intervention funding to compliment core 

delivery, focusing on the risks and vulnerability of pupil groups following 
extended periods of lockdown.6 Additional visits were held at schools that 
obtained a Green score from Ofsted in order to support the closing of the 
recovery curriculum, identify achievement gaps and advise on research-based 
strategies to address these. Bespoke support was provided to target schools 
by specialist Early Years literacy and maths advisers, utilising the NCTEM7 
catch-up and closing the gap resources. Subject leaders also received 
coaching and support in monitoring equality of provision for pupils taught in 
class and those receiving additional interventions, identifying and assessing 
achievement gaps and leading the “keep up not catch up” agenda for their 
subjects.  

 
5.2  Additionally, Primary School Improvement advisers have gathered and 

analysed achievement data linked to the protected characteristics, which will 
be used to inform advice and support provided by TEP’s Equality Diversity 
and Inclusion Team (EDIT). Analysis confirmed that the gap for 
disadvantaged pupils is widening and has resulted in the development of a 
targeted Pupil Premium support package to be offered by the team to schools 
with the widest achievement gaps. The EDIT team amended its training and 
support offer in response to this, with a full EDIT training plan to be 
developed. 

 
Secondary School Improvement 

5.3  The Secondary School Improvement team utilised the Education Endowment 
Foundation’s ‘Promising Projects’ programme to enable secondary schools to 
access project resources.8 In addition, visits were conducted by the School 
Improvement team and Specialist Advisors to support school leaders in 
evaluating and developing their curriculum and co-curricular activities with 
regards to equality and diversity.  

 

5.4 Increase learning and employment opportunities for those aged 16-25 
with regard to disability, race or sex 

 
5.5  In order to improve the support offered to young people with SEND, KCC’s 

Skills and Employability Team has collaborated with TEP’s Specialist 

                                            
6
 These vulnerable pupil groups have been identified in Ofsted and government data to include children in 

receipt of free school meals and/or Pupil Premium (funding distributed to schools for children from low-
income families), SEND children, and children with English as an Additional Language (EAL). 
7
 The National Centre for Excellence in the Teaching of Mathematics 

8
 The available resources are linked to evidence-based research, with an adviser allocation to each school to 

support staff in the implementation of projects and ensure all groups of children and young people are 
considered in the planning and approach. 

Page 30



 
 

Employment Service, allowing new employers that are recruited to the 
scheme the opportunity to work with both services and make referrals where 
appropriate. This collaboration has also contributed to the development of a 
new role in the Skills and Employability Team to improve engagement with 
employers with regard to disabled young people and to identify students with 
SEND or an Education, Health & Care Plan (EHCP) to reduce levels of those 
Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) amongst this cohort. This 
post has enabled the team to successfully engage over 75 new employers, 
including the delivery company DPD, and facilitate Disability Confident 
training with 20 new employers. In addition, the Specialist Employment 
Service9 has provided a supported employment service to over 700 eligible 
KCC clients, working with ASCH, the autism team, schools, colleges and 
training providers where required. Schools, colleges and training providers 
were offered training on Supported Internships and the Support Employment 
Model to support the transition of SEND students to employment. Additionally, 
the team worked with every mainstream school to offer the ‘Embedding 
Supported Employment’ programme through Headteachers, governors, 
careers leads, teachers and parents.  

 
5.6  The service also ran an International Women’s Week event with Longfield 

Academy called #Girlscando. This included a series of virtual talks from 
aspirational speakers and panel discussions raising awareness of the types of 
jobs available and challenging the gendered stereotypes associated with 
certain industries, which were available to all schools through Kent and 
Medway Careers Enterprise Network.  

 
5.7  In the period, the service also identified Gypsy, Roma and Traveller young 

people as an overrepresented group amongst those who are NEET. In order 
to improve the support provided to this group of young people, the service has 
engaged with the community and the Traveller Movement10 to arrange 
meetings with Gypsy, Roma and Traveller site managers to establish an 
ongoing dialogue.  

 

5.8 Increasing access to early years services for 2-year-old offer of free 
provision regardless of disability, race or sex 

 
5.9 In Kent, the Free for 2 scheme delivers central government’s provision of 

free childcare for eligible two-year olds. The bulk of families eligible for this 
service fall under the economic criteria, but there is also an entitlement for 
vulnerable children, SEND children and Zambrano carers11. The COVID-19 
pandemic has had a lasting impact on the take-up of this scheme, but it is 
starting to recover and reach pre-pandemic levels, as indicated in the table 
below.  

                                            
9
 The Specialist Employment Service supports vulnerable learner groups, adults with a disability or 

disadvantage, and SEND students to find paid employment opportunities. 
10

 The Traveller Movement is a charity, established to advocate for Romany Gypsy, Irish Traveller and Roma 
inequality, exclusion, discrimination and rights.  
11

 Zambrano carers are migrant parents of British citizen children, whose residence in the UK is required in 
order to enable a child or dependant adult who is British to live in the UK. 

Page 31



 
 

 
Table 2: Free for 2 Take-up  

Term & Year Take-up Comment vs. pre pandemic levels 

Summer Term 2021 59% Below pre-pandemic levels 

Autumn Term 2021 69% At pre-pandemic levels 

Spring Term 2022 65% At pre-pandemic levels 

 
5.10  This was achieved through significant engagement activity. In addition to 

weekly posts on the KCC Free Childcare Facebook page, the service 
undertook a parent/carer survey to understand their knowledge and 
experience of accessing the Free for 2 scheme. 75% of the respondents were 
White British. This is significantly lower than the figure of 93.7% White British 
in our county profile, potentially indicating a good response rate to the survey 
from diverse communities in Kent. Some of the key findings that will inform 
future service delivery included that 4% of respondents reported difficulty in 
finding a childcare setting that met their family’s cultural needs, which could 
include dietary or religious needs. Work also commenced with KCC 
Communications to produce a ‘Talking Book’ with subtitles in a range of 
languages12 to promote the Free for 2 scheme to families. This is forecast to 
be delivered in the following financial year. 

 
5.11  Data on the percentage take-up of all eligible children with SEND needs is not 

available. However, as an indication of the number of SEND children 
accessing and benefitting from this service, in the summer term of 2021, 82 
children eligible via Disability Living Allowance took up a place and seven 
children confirmed to have SEND needs took up a place.  

 

5.12 Driving down permanent exclusions to zero for primary age children 
with regard to sex and race  

 
5.13  Due to the relatively low number of exclusions of primary age children taking 

place, it is difficult to identify any trends of note with regard to sex or race.  
Analysis of the available data has highlighted that there is a more prominent 
link between permanent exclusions and SEND, as seven (44%) of the primary 
age children suspended or permanently excluded in the period had EHCPs 
when excluded. Initial investigation has suggested that in most cases this 
resulted from an inability for the child’s needs to be met in a mainstream 
school environment and that exclusion occurred whilst the child was on the 
EHCP pathway.13 Approaches to address this trend will continue to be 
explored going forward.  

 

                                            
12

 Whilst the audio will be in English, the written subtitles will be available in Nepali, Yoruba, Punjabi, 
Romanian and Polish in order to reflect the needs of potential service users in Dartford and Gravesham in 
particular, as well as the languages most frequently spoken across the county as per the last year’s school 
census.  
13

 Where a child requires additional support that goes beyond what a school, college, or nursery can typically 
deliver from their own budgets or staffing then they may need an EHCP, which details their needs and the 
specific provision that will be provided by a specific school/placement to meet these.   

Page 32



 
 

5.14  Every effort is made to promote multi-agency working and ensure all 
interventions and resources have been utilised to avoid permanent exclusions 
being made. Additionally, as a preventative measure, Education Engagement 
Officers run inclusion projects in schools looking at the importance of school 
attendance, education and the links to friendships, ambitions and future 
careers, some of which have been focused toward Gypsy, Roma and 
Traveller or Minority Ethnic pupil groups. The East Kent team is also running a 
media project which will focus on self-esteem, emotional wellbeing, and 
perceptions of stereotypical images of adults or young people which may 
negatively influence school aged children.  

 
5.15  Information from the Attendance and Exclusion team is channelled to EDIT 

and used to shape training and support offered to schools. This attendance 
information was utilised in the case of Parkside Community Primary School, 
where bespoke training was offered to engage Afghan refugee pupils and 
their families following admission of around 30 refugee pupils, and 
Broadwater Down Primary School where a full audit of the training provision 
was conducted in light of increased EAL (those who speak English as an 
Additional Language) and Ukrainian refugee admissions. 

 

5.16 Improved life chances and outcomes for children and young people 
through service developments and transformation 

 
Equality Diversity and Inclusion Team (EDIT) 

5.17  TEP’s Equality Diversity and Inclusion Team (EDIT) provides schools, 
advisers and the Educational Improvement Division (EID) with advice, 
consultations and support regarding issues or concerns related to equality, 
diversity and inclusion. This plays a role in improving the life and learning 
opportunities of pupils who sit in protected characteristic groups, providing 
mechanisms and advice on how schools can target and eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and advance equality of 
opportunity and good relations between pupil groups. 

 
5.18  In line with national trends, the team has continued to receive higher than 

average referrals from schools relating to prejudicial language and behaviour, 
mostly centred on racism and homophobic, bi-phobic and transphobic 
bullying. This is a not unexpected legacy of the COVID-19 pandemic, with 
children and young people having been isolated at home, unable to mix with 
others from different backgrounds and sometimes exposed to prejudicial 
views from home or through the media. 

 
5.19  In this context, the service continued to provide two virtual hubs for teachers 

of pupils with English as an Additional Language and for schools with Gypsy, 
Roma and Traveller Pupils. Individual support was provided to Gypsy, Roma 
and Traveller pupils who were adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic 
in addition to training to school staff on culture and supporting individuals in 
class. Where referrals were received, individual school-based support was 
provided, particularly focusing on ‘recognising, recording, reporting, 
addressing and preventing racist incidents’ and ‘Promoting the Inclusion of 
Gender Diverse and Transgender Pupils’. Training was also delivered to the 

Page 33



 
 

Fair Access Team on how to support gender diverse, trans and non-binary 
young people. EDIT has also provided advice and guidance to parents and 
carers, particularly to support Gypsy, Roma and Traveller pupils moving into 
Kent, and parent enquires regarding transgender pupils. 

 
5.20  With the arrival of Ukrainian refugees in Kent, the team produced guidance 

and resources for classes with Ukrainian refugees, and for KCC officers with 
advice on refugees in hotels and use of the Department for Education’s 
Innovation funding. They also contributed their expertise through participation 
in the Canterbury Ukraine hub and sharing information with the Ukraine 
Strategic Steering Group.  

 
5.21  The Sport & Physical Activity Service, delivered by the Growth, 

Environment & Transport directorate (GET) has conducted a survey of 
secondary school pupils across Kent, targeting those from the least active 
groups14, to understand any barriers to entry and assist in the co-creation of 
sports activities. Following the survey, a 5-point checklist has been 
implemented to deliver positive activity experiences for less active young 
people. Those most affected by inequalities and with the greatest sedentary 
behaviour have also been the focus of the Kent School Games over 2021-22. 
The ‘Six MEs’ were developed to underpin delivery across local school game 
organisers and national Active Partnership networks, with the approach 
successfully increasing participation from underrepresented groups and the 
least active pupil groups in School Games opportunities.  

 
5.22 The Schools Accessibility Initiative (SAI) undertook ten projects in the 

2021-22 financial year. These projects involve making adaptations to existing 
school sites to improve their accessibility for disabled pupils and have 
included adaptations to classrooms, care rooms, disabled toilets and 
entrances; installation of ramps and railings; and levelling works.  

 

5.23 The quality and range of services are improved through increasing 
engagement with service users and carers 

 
5.24 Parents were included in the procurement of the provider for the Together 

with Parents15 service, contributing to the design of the specification as well 
as the evaluation of tenders and the final provider selection. Similarly, young 
people have been directly involved in the evolution of the Young Carers 
service16, feeding into the specification redesign and participating in the 
evaluation of tenders, with plans in place for them to visit the provider later 
this year to look at ‘live’ provision as part of the annual deep dive undertaken 

                                            
14

 Over 2000 responses were received from young people attending secondary schools with high percentages 
of free school meals, young people from culturally diverse communities, and/or those with special educational 
needs. 52% responses were from female students, 20% from students from culturally diverse communities, 
11% from students with a disability, and 25% from students in receipt of Free School Meals 
15

 ‘Together with Parents’ is a service co-designed with parents to support those families awaiting a diagnosis 
on the neurodevelopmental pathway. 
16

 The Young Carers service assesses the needs of young people with a caring responsibility, providing them 
with appropriate respite. 

Page 34

https://activekent.org/children-and-young-people/kent-school-games/


 
 

for this provision. Procurement is underway for the provision of therapeutic 
support for children and young people living in Sanctuary housing. This 
procurement exercise has been shaped by a commissioned study from Rising 
Sun (a provider of domestic abuse support services), looking at the kind of 
support young people who are victims of domestic abuse want, and will 
continue to embrace participation from young people and their families.  

 
5.25  In February 2022, significant problems caused by changes to the school 

transport system for children and young people with special educational 
needs and disabilities (SEND) required immediate and intense action to 
resolve the problems for the children who were left without transport after 
February half-term. This resulted in oversight by the Scrutiny Committee while 
the Council worked to resolve the problems and provide the children affected 
with appropriate transport offers, and also the commissioning of an Internal 
Audit review to identify lessons learned. This review took place during the first 
quarter of 2022-23. One of the most pertinent issues identified was a failure in 
communication with parents and carers regarding changes to the service and 
delays to the tender process. Commitments were made to ensure this 
engagement was improved going forward, with parent and carer views to be 
incorporated into future SEND service recommissioning activities.  

 

LIVING STANDARDS  
 

6. Safeguarding children, young people and vulnerable adults from harm 
with regard to sex, disability, race and age 

 
Safeguarding Children 

6.1 The Education Safeguarding Team have delivered training courses to over 
1,700 school and early years staff and provided e-learning to a further 800, 
with an additional 4,500 school and early years staff provided with bespoke 
training. The team delivered 18 National Minimum Standards visits to Kent’s 
three residential special schools and picked up over 3,500 education 
safeguarding enquiries from schools and early years providers. The training 
offer follows the government guidance, ‘Keeping Children Safe in Education’, 
which identifies key vulnerable groups such as those at risk of ‘honour’-based 
abuse, FGM, radicalisation, or mental health issues. The team also offers 
safeguarding reviews to schools, which provide a deeper dive into the 
safeguarding of these vulnerable groups, engaging with students in one-day 
visits about their experiences in school in relation to diversity.  

 
6.2  The Education Safeguarding Team has also developed the peer-on-peer 

abuse toolkit for the Kent Safeguarding Children Multi-Agency Partnership 
(KSCMP) to support schools in identifying and responding to issues of child-
on-child sexual abuse and assaults. In recognition of the fact that domestic 
abuse happens across families, the KSCMP has developed a further training 

Page 35



 
 

offer across a number of specific abuse vulnerabilities related to the protected 
characteristics.17  
 
Safeguarding Adults 

6.3  KCC safeguards adults with vulnerabilities arising from their protected 
characteristics in day-to-day service delivery of Section 42 enquiries18. In the 
past year, the service has focused on better awareness of protected 
characteristics through training and events, and promoted understanding of 
individuals’ communication needs which are now included in the redesigned 
KCC Safeguarding Concern form. 

 
6.4  KCC Practice Development Officers provided a range of training and support 

sessions for ASCH staff, colleagues from KCC and partners. These included 
the following: 

 

 ‘Communication – More than talking’ - Along with looking at broader 
communication approaches and legal requirements of providing accessible 
information, the session explored concepts such as cultural competence, 
intersectionality and unconscious bias. 

 An event was held to consider how to discuss and record spirituality with 
people as part of adult social care assessments and support planning19.  

 ‘Working With Marginalised Communities - Asylum Seekers and People 
From Gypsy Roma Traveller Community’. This was a well-received multi-
agency event which focused on the needs of Gypsy, Roma and Traveller 
people and individuals seeking asylum. Subsequently, partners contacted 
the Gypsy and Traveller Site Liaison Manager to support the community 
more closely. The event also provided valuable legal and other knowledge 
which enabled the team to successfully advocate for the social care needs 
of one of their residents.  

 ‘Domestic Abuse – A Kent Perspective’. Held during Safeguarding 
Awareness week, speakers across Kent shared information on the impact 
of domestic abuse on older people and people identifying as men, as well 
as providing an update on the Domestic Abuse Act and Kent Domestic 
Abuse Strategy. 

 
6.5  In addition to this, the Learners' Forum ran three sessions on discussing racial 

trauma, with colleagues sharing their own experiences. This resulted in 
amendments to the Newly Qualified Social Worker (NQSW) programme to 
ensure inclusion and diversity are embraced through all sessions.   

 

                                            
17

 This includes training on Equality & Diversity, Gypsy and Traveller Cultural Awareness, and also regarding 
Female Genital Mutilation (FGM), Honour Based Violence and forced marriage, Hate Crime, and beliefs in 
Witchcraft. 
18

 Section 42 enquiries are undertaken by the local authority, under Section 42 of the Care Act 2014 where 
there are indications of abuse or neglect in relation to an adult with care and support needs that render them 
unable to protect themselves.  
19

 This was based on a research piece entitled, ‘A comparison of mental health professionals' attitudes towards 
spirituality’ by Catriona Brodie. 

Page 36



 
 

6.6 Gather and analyse knowledge and information to get a clear 
understanding of the protected characteristics of our service users 

 
6.7  Teams across ASCH have a good understanding of the make-up of the 

communities they serve, including the protected characteristics and other 
factors that generate additional vulnerabilities and needs, for example, mental 
health, disability, rural isolation, autism or minority ethnic background. The 
ASCH Performance Team produced and published the ASCH Demographics 
& Protected Characteristics PowerBI report in May 2120. This has been used 
to make equalities assessments and develop the terminology used to collect 
protected characteristic data and will continue to evolve going forward, 
incorporating the 2021 Census information once available. The 
implementation of the Community Based Wellbeing contracts has enabled 
further protected characteristic data to be collected through the providers, and 
is providing an understanding of the contracts’ impact, identifying that over 
9,453 individuals were supported across these contracts in the first year of 
service delivery.  

 
6.8  The Adult Social Care and Health Domestic Abuse Group21 has contributed to 

the improvement in domestic abuse data collection to the extent that it will 
now be possible to produce a report of domestic abuse related data in relation 
to Safeguarding Enquiries, including protected characteristic information and 
form of abuse. This development will enable the identification of trends and 
areas for investigation so that more targeted support and services can be 
provided. 

 
The Helping Hands Scheme and Financial Hardship Programme 

6.9  The Financial Hardship Programme targets support to residents and 
communities who are experiencing, or at risk of, financial hardship. EqIAs are 
completed at the planning stage of projects in order to identify any risks or 
opportunities associated with equalities and in some instances targeted 
projects are completed to mitigate impact on specific protected characteristic 
groups. As part of the Healthy Start Scheme, a decision was made to pilot 
provision of vitamins at an earlier stage of pregnancy in areas of Dartford and 
Gravesham. This location was identified due to the higher proportion of BME 
residents in these areas who have historically been underrepresented in 
means-tested welfare benefit schemes. This decision was also supported by 
NHS evidence which found that whilst all women are typically vitamin deficient 
during pregnancy, this deficiency is more prevalent amongst BME mothers 
due to the level of melatonin in their skin. The data gathered from this project 
will support and inform Public Health strategy in Kent going forward. The 
Digital Inclusion and Capabilities Workstream has officers nominated for each 
of the protected characteristics to look at how people with the protected 
characteristic will be impacted by projects, and where targeted work may be 
required.  

                                            
20

 This report shows information on those previously or currently receiving support with Adult Social Care.  
21

 The Group brings together professionals from across the Council to strengthen data and information sharing, 
to feed into the development of service provision and to strengthen links across safeguarding provision. 

Page 37



 
 

 

6.10  Ensure that when we use ICT it is fully accessible for learning, working 
and getting into services 
 

6.11  Whilst face-to-face engagement has now resumed (which is important for 
people who are not able to engage digitally), the digital approaches developed 
during the COVID-19 pandemic have also continued. This has enabled people 
to continue to engage and shape what Adult Social Care and partners do, 
particularly those who might struggle with face-to-face participation due to 
caring responsibilities, disabilities or due to post-Covid concerns.       
 

6.12  ASCH has involved people with lived experience (including older people, 
people with disabilities that impact on the way they use technology, people 
with learning disabilities and autistic people) in the co-production and testing 
of technology such as ‘Kent Connect to Support’ and the AskSARA online 
advice tool ahead of launch. This has in part been facilitated by Digital 
Innovation Challenge workshops, attended by 45 people with lived experience 
or from advocate organisations and charities.  

   

HEALTH  
 

7. The number of Black and Minority Ethnic people and women in the 
mental health system is reduced 

 
7.1 KCC and Kent & Medway Integrated Care Board (ICB) jointly commission a 

Community Mental Health and Wellbeing Service known as Live Well Kent 
and Medway. The service has continued to tailor provision to the needs of 
specific groups, providing support on a range of issues targeted to the needs 
of Asian communities in Dartford, Gravesham, Swanley and Swale, as well as 
providing an Asian mental health helpline where callers are able to speak with 
support staff in Gujarati, Punjabi, Hindi and Urdu.  

 
7.2 In 2021-22, the service utilised an innovation grant to fund four projects aimed 

at supporting young people aged 17-25. One of these projects was run by the 
Kent Equality Cohesion Council (KECC) and focused on young people from 
minority ethnic backgrounds, developing activities young people could get 
involved in. This included roundtable discussions about health and wellbeing 
and the current challenges for young people from diverse communities; 
development of a film to generate awareness of mental health, the importance 
of reaching out for support, and the support services available locally; a social 
event to present the film, with talks and music from relevant partners and 
young artists, and a survey collecting feedback from the roundtables and film. 
The findings will be published in the final project report.  

 
7.3  Between 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022, 57% of service users who disclosed, 

stated that they were Female and 12% stated they were from an ethnic group 
other than White British. Compared to the previous year, the proportion of 
female service users has remained stable, whilst the percentage of service 
users who were not White British increased from 8%. Women and BME 

Page 38

https://kent.connecttosupport.org/
https://kent.livingmadeeasy.org.uk/
https://kent.livingmadeeasy.org.uk/


 
 

people also make up slightly greater proportions of mental health service 
users than their representation in the population according to the 2011 
Census.22 The slight increase in BME representation amongst service users 
highlights the success of work to reduce barriers to their access. However, it 
also demonstrates that there is further work to be done to target mental ill 
health amongst BME communities.   

 

7.4 Ensure equity of access to Sexual Health services to improve health 
outcomes with regard to age, sexual orientation, gender identity and 
race 

 
7.5 The Integrated Sexual Health Services commissioned by KCC are delivered 

by Kent Community Health Care Foundation Trust (KCHFT) and Maidstone 
and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust (MTW). The service undertook a number of 
actions to improve access to those that may experience barriers to access or 
be at higher risk due to their age, sexuality, gender identity or race. 

 
7.6  Online clinics are offered to reduce barriers to access that may be 

experienced by young people due to school hours or living situations. As 
Sexually Transmitted Infections (STI) rates are highest amongst those in Kent 
aged 20-24 and 15-19, free condoms are provided to all 16-24 year-olds. 
Higher rates of pregnancy termination are experienced in those under 30, as 
such, people identifying as women in this age group are able to receive 
emergency oral contraception (EOC) free of charge from KCC community 
pharmacies.  

 
7.7  Following a successful pilot in 2020, the PrEP scheme has been retained for 

those who identify as men who have sex with men (MSM), and includes 
services such as offering Pre-Exposure Prophlaxis depending on their risk 
factors, additional testing for viruses, and the human papillomavirus (HPV) 
vaccine. The online STI outreach team has supported under 20 year-olds who 
identify as MSM to access information regarding personal safety, supporting 
referrals to the service as required. The service also provides support to 
transgender males, and runs a group for the LGBTQ+ community at 
Canterbury College, which includes follow-ups on a 1:1 basis, tailoring care 
based on individual need. 

 
7.8  The Kent Sexual Health Needs Assessment (2018) shows that those in Black 

and Minority Ethnic groups are one of several groups at greater risk regarding  
sexual health; this is borne out by national research. The Integrated Service 
has conducted outreach to address the proportionally greater needs of some 
groups and reach communities that might not otherwise access the service. 
This has included support for young people in college who have English as an 
additional language, and sessions for refugees and asylum seekers regarding 
contraceptive choices and sexual health, along with the provision of 
appropriate contraception and STI screening.  

 

                                            
22

 The 2011 Census recorded that 6.3% of Kent’s residents were BME people and 51% identified as women. 

Page 39



 
 

7.9 Ensuring that the Children’s Public Health service reduces health 
inequalities in early years and maternal health 

 
7.10 Research by the service delivering the Perinatal Mental Health (PATH) 

programme, which aims to target low to moderate perinatal mental health has 
identified differing needs amongst people with different protected 
characteristics, including between new parents of both sexes, and between 
different ethnic groups. The programme introduced a pilot of training sessions 
for non-health professionals on perinatal mental health, picking up some of 
these trends. The success of this pilot is still being evaluated, with the hope 
that it can be extended. 

 
7.11 The service also conducted an equality and equity audit for the Kent and 

Medway local maternity neonatal system (LMNS). This highlighted differing 
maternal and infant outcomes by maternal ethnicity, parent age and 
deprivation. As a result, the LMNS is now undertaking a broad programme of 
engagement targeting these groups. 

 
7.12  Following service adjustments made as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, 

where support frequently had to be moved online, plans are now being made 
by the service to re-introduce physical services. Children Centre activities 
have already restarted, with in-person breastfeeding support sessions to 
follow suit. Online services that were introduced during the pandemic23 have 
all been maintained to ensure access to early years and maternal health 
services, particularly for those that prefer to access support digitally. 

 

7.13 The rate of male suicide declines 
 
7.14 During 2021-22 the Suicide Prevention programme undertook a wide number 

of actions designed to reduce the risk of suicide amongst men. These 
included: 

 

 Continued promotion of the Release the Pressure campaign ensuring that 
free, 24-hour support was available to everyone in Kent via phone and 
text. This was promoted through social media, paid for advertising and a 
partnership with Margate Football Club. As a result of the campaign, 
46,000 conversations were had with people who reached out for support. 

 Funding ‘Dads Unlimited’24 to provide Kent’s first Independent Domestic 
Violence Advisor (IDVA) dedicated to supporting male victims of domestic 
abuse. 

 Providing free to access suicide prevention training to over 500 Kent and 
Medway Residents, increasing both their knowledge and confidence in 
how to have potentially life-saving conversations. 

 Funding Citizens Advice to provide dedicated support to individuals 
suffering from both financial and mental health conditions.     

                                            
23

 Including the Solihull approach online parenting support courses, the Kent Born to Move app, We Beside You 
website, online counselling and Dad Pad 
24

 Through the Saving Lives Innovation Fund 

Page 40



 
 

  
7.15  Work began in 2020-21 in partnership with Kent Police to develop the Real 

Time Suicide Surveillance (RTSS) system25 to provide insight into emerging 
trends. The key trends in the past year include relationships ending, loss of 
contact with children due to family breakup, financial difficulties, or being a 
victim of domestic abuse. Analysis has highlighted a particular link between 
domestic abuse and suicide for men, both as perpetrators and victims, and 
continues to inform work around suicide prevention going forward. Indeed, 
this research was recently quoted by the previous Secretary of State for 
Health as the reason why Domestic Abuse would be included as a priority 
within the forthcoming National Suicide Prevention Plan. 

 

7.16 Ensuring equality of access to NHS Health Checks (age / sex / disability / 
race) 

 
7.17  The NHS Health Check programme is targeted at 40 to 74-year-olds without a 

pre-defined existing health condition. Throughout 2021-22, the programme 
continued to recover towards pre-pandemic activity levels after delivery 
resumed in Quarter 2.  

 
7.18  The pilot of a targeted offer of health checks to men and women based on 

cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk, which was developed in the previous year, 
has been rolled out in 2021-22. This pilot has involved contacting eligible 
individuals over the phone, rather than via a traditional letter, to increase 
uptake particularly from men due to their inherent greater risk of CVD, and 
because they are less likely to take up a health check invitation. Alongside 
this, the service encouraged uptake from men through engagement work with 
Men’s Sheds, Dads Unlimited and the Man V Fat event.  

 
7.19  The outreach workstream aims to increase uptake in ethnic and minority 

groups, who are less likely to engage with the programme. This workstream 
reaches individuals directly in their communities at faith groups, clubs, 
businesses, and charities, offering health checks or health MOTs, and where 
required, referring to the relevant service for behaviour change or lifestyle 
improvement. 

 

7.20 Improved life chances and outcomes for vulnerable adults through 
service developments and transformation 

 
7.21 In the co-production of ASCH strategies that underpin how services are 

delivered, the directorate has conducted significant engagement work 
throughout the planning, consultation and development phases, with a focus 
on those with lived experience to ensure service developments work for the 
people we serve. The Learning Disability and Autism Strategy has been 

                                            
25

 Official suicide statistics are published annually and only after coroner’s inquests have been completed. 
Therefore, there tends to be a lag to any analysis conducted of suicide statistics. However, the RTSS system 
provides better insight into emerging trends and the factors in people’s lives which may contribute to their 
decision to take their own lives. 

Page 41



 
 

developed in this way26 to include a proposal for all support information to be 
made realistic and accessible to those with learning disabilities and/or autism, 
and their families or carers. Similarly, the content of the Adult Social Care 
Strategy and subsequent delivery plan was shaped by extensive engagement 
and co-production workshops.27  

 
7.22  Pre-engagement and consultation28 were held with unpaid carers to inform the 

content of the Adult Carers Strategy. Through the formal consultation, it was 
also possible to collect valuable feedback from people who may experience 
intersectional impact, with 24% of those unpaid carers that responded 
considering themselves as disabled, 87% were aged over 50, and 2% were 
Black or Asian.29 

 
7.23  Following the completion of the 2020 LGA Peer Review, the ASCH Equality 

Forum was launched in September 2021 to take forward some of the 
improvements identified and to facilitate conversations that would make 
equality, diversity and inclusion the responsibility of all ASCH staff. The group 
met twice in 2021-22, with external speakers sharing their experiences. The 
first forum was also attended by a graphic illustrator who summarised the 
discussion in graphics that have been circulated with ASCH teams. Equality 
Champions have been identified to drive forward this agenda and ensure 
actions are taken forward, and this will be strengthened further by the Equality 
Steering Group planned for 2022-23.   

 

7.24 The quality and range of services are improved through increasing 
engagement with service users and carers  

 
7.25  People with lived experience have joined Stakeholder Interview Panels to 

contribute to selection decisions for ASCH vacancies including Director and 
Assistant Director posts. This has enabled senior posts to be recruited that 
reflect the communities we serve and ensure the people we support feel 
valued and respected. Letter reviews have been conducted with a range of 
user groups30, with feedback shaping the information that is sent out to people 
currently using services, including the Client Financial Services non-
residential charging letter and the Complaints and Enquiries response. The 
feedback of vulnerable adults and their families or carers is also collected via 
group and individual feedback sessions with senior officers. This has 

                                            
26

 Through collaboration with Health, autistic people, people with learning disabilities, their families, 
community, advocacy groups, professionals and leaders. 
27

 These were attended by people with lived experience of adult social care, carers, family members, voluntary, 
community and provider organisation representatives. For more information on this engagement, see the 
following link. 
28

 This included attendance at the East Kent Mencap carers coffee morning and a commissioned carers 
behavioural study. For more information on this engagement, see the following link.  
29

 When completing EqIAs, KCC considers a tenth characteristic of carer responsibility, which may make 
individuals more vulnerable. Therefore, this engagement was able to capture the intersectional impact of carer 
responsibility with age and race, amongst other factors.  
30

 Including people with lived experience, the Kent Learning Disability Partnership Board, the People’s Panel 
and Learning Disability experts by experience 

Page 42

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/adult-social-care-policies/making-a-difference-every-day
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/adult-social-care-policies/making-a-difference-every-day
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/adult-social-care-policies/kent-adult-carers-strategy
https://letstalk.kent.gov.uk/adult-social-care-strategy
https://letstalk.kent.gov.uk/adult-carers-strategy


 
 

covered themes such as the role of informal carers, what is important to 
carers and their interaction with ASCH, and the importance of people’s voices 
being actively heard. This feedback has informed the Adult Carers Strategy 
and the involvement of experts by experience in the commissioning 
processes. The Kent Learning Disability Partnership Board31 provided 
feedback on the annual Learning Disability Mortality Review (LeDeR) report, 
which led to the publication of an Easy Read version. The Board also 
supported the decision taken by the Kent and Medway Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) that people on the learning disability register 
would be eligible for COVID-19 boosters. The Board has also influenced 
partner delivery in providing feedback on the barriers adults and children with 
learning disabilities may face when accessing Audiology services and weight 
loss services.  
 

 Kent Equality & Cohesion Council outreach for COVID-19  
7.26  Following the publication of their report around vaccine uptake, in 2021-22 the 

Kent Equality & Cohesion Council (KECC) continued to deliver on this work to 
reach diverse communities in Kent with messaging regarding the pandemic 
and how to stay safe.32 This included a series of online videos, distribution of 
messaging at targeted online events, outreach work with BME communities, 
and maintenance of the Phone a Community Friend scheme.  

 
7.27  Public Health conducted a COVID-19 Impact Assessment on Health 

Inequalities, which looks at a broad range of health inequality indicators over 
time. This report’s findings provide us with valuable insight into the nature of 
inequalities in Kent, including where they intersect with protected 
characteristics and will inform service developments and delivery going 
forward.  

 

JUSTICE AND PERSONAL SECURITY 
 

8. Where appropriate, fewer young people become young offenders with 
regard to disability, sex or race  

 
8.1  Analysis by the Youth Justice Service found that whilst children with a 

disability do not disproportionately feature in the youth offender cohort, there 
is a link to ethnic minority status, sex and, as their most overrepresented 
cohort, children in care.  

 
8.2  The Youth Justice Service has undertaken a deep dive of data, processes 

and practices relating to cases of children in a minority ethnic group in order 
to identify any disproportionality in the service. This did not identify any 

                                            
31

 The Board is co-chaired by a person with a learning disability and a senior KCC officer and is made up of 
people with lived experience, KCC officers, parents or carers of adults with learning disabilities, learning 
disability advocacy reps and health or other partners. 
32

 The KECC were originally commissioned in 2020-21 utilising Containing the Outbreak Management Funding 
(COMF), with this work continuing into 2021-22 as the effects of the pandemic continued to be felt. 

Page 43

https://www.kentecc.org.uk/wp-content/images/PUBLIC%20PERCEPTIONS%20TOWARD%20THE%20COVID%2019%20VACCINE%20IN%20KENT%20J9023.pdf


 
 

discriminatory or disproportionate practice once children were in the youth 
justice system but has initiated a further enquiry into the early childhood 
experiences of these children. This piece of work is now in progress and will 
explore whether children in these groups had accessed any early help or 
preventative services, and if not, whether there were any barriers that 
prevented this.   

 
8.3  The service utilises national research to ensure that effective diversion and 

early intervention is offered to minority ethnic children and children in care. 
The team has taken a focus on representation and diversity, promoting 
challenge to discrimination or stereotyping as well as a quality assurance and 
audit process for assessments and reports. The service also mandated 
unconscious bias and cultural competence training for their workforce. The 
language and imagery of formal communications was also reviewed in order 
to ensure these materials are inclusive. The service utilised the Gypsy, Roma 
and Traveller specialists within the ‘PRU (Pupil Referral Unit), Inclusion and 
Attendance Service’ (PIAS) teams to better understand and build relationships 
with this community group.  

 
8.4  The service has also drawn attention to the relevance of sex, working on an 

analysis of the offending cohort that will be completed in September 2022 and 
presented to the County Youth Justice Board for discussion and action. Whilst 
a recent bid to the Home Office for resources to provide a bespoke service to 
girls experiencing violence was not successful, the team still plan to develop a 
bespoke strategy in 2023 for working with girls within the Youth Justice 
system.   

 

Domestic Abuse 
8.5 The majority of domestic abuse services in Kent are delivered by the Kent 

Integrated Domestic Abuse Service (KIDAS). Through needs assessments in 
2020 and 2021, KIDAS has completed significant analysis of the trends 
around domestic abuse service use and need in Kent. For example, reports of 
abuse are more prevalent among women, people in the LGTBQ+ community 
and people with a disability, while men and older people are much less likely 
to self-report abuse, and the percentage of people from BME backgrounds 
accessing refuge or community based support is significantly higher than the 
Kent demographic profile. These assessments highlight any potential barriers 
to access to be targeted, and where data collection can be improved.   

 
8.6  Currently men are only able to access dispersed domestic abuse 

accommodation. A communal refuge for men is now being commissioned as 
an 18-month pilot to be made available next year, with usage of and 
satisfaction with this provision to be monitored. To improve access to support 
within safe accommodation for those with additional support requirements, 
Specialist Independent Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVAs) were funded 
across the county for 2021-2022, helping 139 individuals to access mental 
health services, substance misuse treatment and justice agency support. 
Work began to establish additional provision for those impacted by domestic 
abuse with mental health and addiction vulnerabilities, with £200,000 
allocated to support this work. The KIDAS developed a “Champions 

Page 44



 
 

Programme” to upskill professionals and individuals within communities to 
become domestic abuse ‘leads’ in their organisation, and commissioned 
training to bring cultural awareness and knowledge up to date. 

 
8.7  Additionally, the #KnowSeeSpeakOut against domestic abuse campaign was 

launched to coordinate messaging across partners to increase awareness 
that commissioned domestic abuse services are for everyone. The material 
works to reduce imagery which portrays abuse as specifically male against 
female and supports a discourse of inclusivity across the protected 
characteristics. To ensure that content addressed any barriers to access 
experienced by people because of their sexual orientation or gender identity, 
the campaign liaised with and shared messaging via Kent and Medway’s 
Pride networks. On 14 July (the national day of remembrance for victims of 
honour-based abuse), the campaign worked with specialist providers who 
support people impacted by Honour Based Violence. 
 
White Ribbon 

8.8  In February 2022, KCC became a White Ribbon accredited organisation.33 
KCC staff of all genders are able to get involved in making the White Ribbon 
Promise or registering as a White Ribbon Ambassador or Champion. As an 
organisation, KCC’s commitment will include: strategic leadership within the 
Council; engagement with those who identify as men as part of White Ribbon 
Day; acting as Ambassadors to promote positive cultures throughout our 
teams and services, and raising awareness of violence and abuse and the 
services available to help.  

 
  Domestic Homicide Reviews  
8.9  Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) are coordinated and managed by Kent 

Community Safety Team.34 Consideration of equality issues and protected 
characteristics is an intrinsic part of DHRs. Those worked on and/or published 
in 2021-22 included the following themes: barriers to access associated with 
race and faith; abuse in ‘traditional’ relationships between older couples; the 
vulnerability of people who identify as men; mental ill health; children not 
being considered as domestic abuse victims in their own right. 

 
8.10  Lessons learnt from DHRs result in the relevant agencies reviewing and 

updating their policies and procedures to change how they respond in the 
future. Findings are shared widely across the partnership to support training 
and development and impact the way practitioners see, understand and 
respond to domestic abuse occurring across protected characteristic groups.  

 

 Community Wardens 
8.11 The Kent Community Warden Service is in place to support communities to be 

safer and stronger, with one of its four main objectives being to support the 
elderly and vulnerable, whether this be a result of their gender, race, religion, 

                                            
33

 White Ribbon is a charity that encourages people, especially men and boys, to take action and change 
behaviour individually and / or collectively to end male violence against women and girls.  
34

 Further information about DHRs can be found at this link: Domestic Homicide Reviews - Kent County Council. 

Page 45

https://www.whiteribbon.org.uk/?ltclid=
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/partnerships/kent-community-safety-partnership/domestic-homicide-reviews


 
 

belief or sexual orientation. In order to assist with the emerging issues in their 
communities, Wardens have sought out training and support that has included 
sign-language training, engagement with Mermaids UK35 and translation of 
warden leaflets by a Ukrainian volunteer.  

 
8.12  Of 17,764 activities that the Wardens undertook in 2021-22, 8,608 of these 

were provided to individual residents. This support included welfare visits, 
assistance in purchasing food, assisting in arrangements to meet transport 
needs, and making referrals to appropriate services where required. To reflect 
the contribution this has had in supporting residents with protected 
characteristics, 80% of these were with persons aged over 55, 28% with a 
disabled person, 23% with an individual with poor mental health and 11% with 
a person with dementia. 

 

 Trading Standards 
8.13 Trading Standards works to protect vulnerable people, particularly the elderly, 

from scammers and doorstep crime, preventing fraud from taking place, and 
where this has not been possible, offering support to victims. In 2021-22, 
Trading Standards coordinated scam visits to 1,247 victims, preventing a total 
of £1,291,797 being lost to scammers. In addition, the Trading Standards 
Victim Safeguarding Officer undertook 150 engagements with victims of fraud, 
who had lost £1,239,524 to doorstep criminals, their interventions preventing 
the loss of a further £154,000.  

 
8.14  An elderly repeat victim of a finance scam, who had invested £53,000 in 

bitcoins and was left without any money other than his pension was helped 
and advised by his local KCC Community Warden who referred him to a local 
charity that helped him with benefit claims. Whilst many of those supported by 
Trading Standards work were elderly, this vulnerability also extends to victims 
who do not have English as a first language. Due to fear and the language 
barrier, one individual became victim to a telephone scam at a loss of £4,650, 
with the scam caller claiming to be from the Inland Revenue and insisting a 
payment must be made. Again, the service provided support and advice on 
speaking to her bank to help her try to recover the lost money. 

 
 Prevent 
8.15  The Prevent team deals with hate crime referrals and work to prevent 

radicalisation and online extremism, providing support to parents, carers and 
individuals who have been identified as being vulnerable to radicalisation. In 
February 2022 a hybrid conference on tackling Hateful Extremism across 
Kent and Medway was held; over 250 in-person or online delegates36 
attended. Presentations included new threats such as those associated with 

                                            
35

 Mermaids UK is a charity that supports transgender, nonbinary and gender-diverse children and young 
people up to the age of 20.  
36

 These included delegates from KCC, Medway Unitary, Kent Police, Counter Terrorism Police South East, 
Homeland Security (Home Office), Health, National Probation Service, Kent Districts and Boroughs, and the 
voluntary sector. 

Page 46

https://mermaidsuk.org.uk/


 
 

Incel37 ideology, following the tragic event in Plymouth in August 2021. A 
further conference will be held in February 2023. 

 
 Resettlement Schemes  
8.16  KCC operates three established resettlement schemes: the UK Resettlement 

Scheme (UKRS), which offers a safe and legal route to vulnerable refugees 
in need of protection; the Afghan Relocation and Assistance Policy 
(ARAP), which launched in April 2021 to relocate or assist formally Locally 
Employed Staff in Afghanistan, and the Afghan Citizens Relocation 
Scheme (ACRS), which began in January 2022 and prioritises the 
resettlement of people that assisted the UK’s efforts in Afghanistan and 
promoted values such as democracy or women’s rights, and those who are 
vulnerable due to their sex, race, religion, sexual orientation or other reason. 
People resettled under the Vulnerable Persons Relocation Scheme 
(VPRS), which was the predecessor of the UKRS also continue to be 
supported. The number of people who have been successfully resettled or 
continue to be supported by KCC under these schemes in the 2021-22 
financial year is summarised below. 

 
Table 3: Number of people supported by KCC Resettlement Schemes38 

Number supported in their own rented 
accommodation under the VPRS or the UKRS: 

69 families (approx. 
318 individuals) 

Number supported in their own rented 
accommodation under the ARAP or the ACRS: 

14 families (approx. 59 
individuals) 

Number supported in bridging hotels under the 
ARAP or the ACRS: 

169 individuals 

 

 
8.17  Equalities implications are considered in the day-to-day delivery of these 

schemes, with relevant support offered according to the needs and protected 
characteristics of people who are resettled. All resettled families and 
individuals are provided with support to access organisations that can help 
them get to know and engage with their new local community and relevant 
public services. Alongside arranging access to education for children and 
young people, adults are supported to access English language lessons, 
which are provided at home for those not able to travel to an Adult Education 
Centre due to disability, reduced mobility, pregnancy or having young 
children. Where individuals practice a faith, this is considered in the selection 
of their accommodation as far as possible, to ensure they are able to access 
relevant facilities. The majority of refugees supported to date have been 
Muslims and have been provided with information on the proximity of local 
mosques, halal food shops and Muslim community facilities in their new area. 

                                            
37

 Incel stands for ‘involuntary celibate’, meaning people who are unable to get a romantic or sexual partner 
despite wanting one. People who subscribe to this ideology are usually part of online subcultures that are 
characterised by misogyny, misanthropy and hostility to women (and men) who are sexually active.  
38

 This only includes people supported by the KCC Resettlement Team in 10 of its districts; there are additional 
individuals who have been resettled in Kent by Ashford District Council and Canterbury District Council. These 
individuals do receive support from relevant teams across KCC, including Education, Children’s services, Public 
Health, Adult Social Care and Adult Education. 

Page 47



 
 

Specific support is also provided where there are issues arising from cultural 
differences, with cultural or religious reasonable adjustments made to 
services as required.  

 
8.18 Where individuals are known to have a disability or chronic illness, 

appropriate referrals are made to public health services, with immediate 
specialist healthcare provided on arrival as required. Additional needs arising 
from disability are considered within the selection of appropriate 
accommodation, in terms of accessibility, the requirement for reasonable 
adjustments and proximity to local medical facilities. In the example of one 
individual who struggled to complete everyday tasks for themselves as a 
result of their disability, an Occupational Therapy assessment referral was 
made, with an interpreter in attendance to ensure they were able to 
successfully communicate their needs and preferences. 

 
8.19  Following the Russian invasion of Ukraine in February 2022, the UK Homes 

for Ukraine Scheme and Extended Family Scheme were launched. In the 
early part of 2022, KCC mobilised an extensive team to deliver these 
schemes, working with guests and hosts to find appropriate resettlement 
solutions for up to the next three years.39 As the schemes were launched by 
central government on 14 March 2022, with much of the delivery taking place 
during the 2022-23 financial year, the equalities outcomes will be considered 
in more detail in the following year’s equality report.   

 

PARTICIPATION 
 

9.        POLITICAL AND CIVIC PARTICIPATION  
 

9.1 We will listen to and engage with communities and partners to inform 
the way we plan, design, commission and deliver services. Communities 
can have their say through consultations and engagement activity   

 

Engagement and Consultation  
9.2 In June, KCC launched its new engagement and consultation website, Let’s 

talk Kent, in order to create an easier and more inclusive online environment 
to engage with Kent communities and attract new participants from a wider 
range of backgrounds. The website encourages people to register and choose 
to receive alerts for activity on the website that they are interested in.40 Going 
forward, this innovation could be used to target promotional activity towards 
under-represented demographics to boost their participation in engagement 
activity. Improved use of online tools has not replaced the need to consider all 
stakeholders and what engagement methods are most appropriate. Where 
services’ EqIAs identify non-digital or additional needs, such as Large Print, 
Easy Read, BSL content or paper and audio versions, these are provided.  

                                            
39

 At the time of writing, 1698 host families in Kent are sponsoring 2811 people across the County. 
40

 In its first 10 months (up until 31 March 2022) 21,152 people have registered, with 10,776 of those asking to 
be kept informed. 

Page 48

https://letstalk.kent.gov.uk/
https://letstalk.kent.gov.uk/


 
 

Household Waste Recycling Centre Booking System 
9.3  As part of the COVID-19 pandemic response, a temporary booking system 

was introduced at KCC’s Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs); 
following a positive public consultation during August and September 2021 
this service has been retained permanently. Equality analysis undertaken 
during the consultation and implementation revealed potential impacts to 
users from protected characteristic groups, which are now being mitigated in 
day-to-day service delivery. This includes a telephone booking system for 
those who may struggle to use the online booking form due to lack of digital 
access or skills, or disabilities, and the promotion of this option via Parish 
Council newsletters and HWRC information, to ensure these users are not 
missed. Additionally, ‘on the day’ bookings were introduced acknowledging 
those who may not know if they will be well enough to attend in advance due 
to bouts of ill health, including elderly users, disabled or mentally ill users, and 
pregnant women. To further support these vulnerable groups, the service is 
planning to trial the option to request onsite assistance with lifting or moving 
waste at the point of booking.  

 
Complaints  

9.4 Of 5,210 complaints received in the 2021-22 financial year, 239 were 
categorised Equality and Regulatory, of which 63 were about equalities 
issues. Of these, two were upheld and received a formal apology; one of 
these had an outcome where further guidance was provided to staff to prevent 
the situation occurring again. In the previous reporting period, only 28 
complaints relevant to equalities issues were received. This increase can be 
explained by an improvement in the way staff are categorising and recording 
complaints received, rather than an increase in activity resulting in equalities 
issues, as demonstrated by the total number of these complaints that were 
upheld, falling from four in 2020-21, to two in 2021-22.  

 

9.5 All Members and Officers will be responsible for ensuring that the PSED 
is met in their day-to-day work and when making decisions, and publish 
Equality Analysis with all key and significant decisions 

  
9.6 Compared to previous years, 2021-22 indicates fluctuations in the extent to 

which equalities is acknowledged and considered in KCC’s decision-making 
and business as usual processes. Chart 1 shows that in 2021-22, 93% of 
committee reports (including those with Key Decisions) mentioned equalities, 
compared to 94.5% in 2020-21 and 80% in 2019-20 – slightly lower than last 
year, but still significantly higher than the preceding years. 39% of reports had 
appended an EqIA compared to 56% in 2020-21 – this is a fall compared to 
previous years, although the number of reports that included a link to an EqIA 
increased to 25%. For context, the volume of reports going to committee also 
significantly fell from 146 in 2020-21 to 72 in 2021-22, as the Council moved 
out of the initial intense response phase of the Pandemic and back to more 
business-as-usual activities. 

 
 
 
 

Page 49



 
 

 Chart 1: EqIA Analysis 

 

9.7 Not all items that are taken to KCC’s committees require an EqIA or equalities 
considerations, for example, service updates, passporting of funding or 
signing of grant agreements. However, Key Decisions do require equalities 
consideration through an EqIA, and the percentage of Key Decisions with 
either an EqIA attached or a link provided stands at 50% for 2021-22. This is 
lower than the 63% for 2020-21. The percentage of Key Decisions with EqIAs, 
a link, or a reference to equalities stands at 95%, just slightly lower than the 
96% of the previous year. As noted in the previous Annual Report, 2020-21 
was unprecedented in the number of Key Decisions processed, many of 
which were urgent decisions in response to the COVID-19 Pandemic – the 
number of Key Decisions dropped from 141 during 2020-21 down to 64 for 
2021-22, and the proportion of total reports that were Key Decisions fell from 
97% to 89%. 

 
9.8 The figures above show that while overall equalities references and inclusion 

of EqIAs is largely stable at 93%, the number of reports or Key Decisions that 
specifically include an EqIA or link to one has fallen from 63% to 46% in the 
last two years, which is disappointing given the previous years’ upward 
trajectory. Potential reasons could include both the ongoing impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, as well as pandemic recovery with services returning to 
business-as-usual activity and more decisions and activities coming forward 
again that were less people-focused, and in some cases therefore not 
requiring an EqIA. Indeed, a number of those Key Decision reports that did 
not have an EqIA linked or attached made reference to equality analysis 
having taken place that identified that there was not a need for a full EqIA to 
be completed.  

 
9.9  As a proportion of the Key Decision reports where an EqIA had not been 

linked or attached but had been mentioned, there was a small increase in the 

63% 

19% 20% 

72.5% 

53% 

8% 

80% 

50% 

14% 

94.5% 

56% 

14% 

93% 

39% 

25% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Report mentions equalities EqIA is appended Link to EqIA is included

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Page 50



 
 

number of reports where EqIAs had been completed, but not shared with Key 
Decision information. This has constituted the majority of the reports across 
both years. Whilst it is reassuring to confirm that the analysis is taking place, 
this indicates a governance issue that will require investigation and focus in 
order to improve performance by services.  

 
9.10  Fewer Key Decision reports are making a generic reference to equality 

implications rather than making reference to the completion of an EqIA. This 
is positive, suggesting that there may be a greater prevalence of supporting 
analysis taking place and potentially highlighting the positive impact of EqIA 
App messaging. The return to business-as-usual working and greater capacity 
of officers may also contribute to this. Unlike in 2020-21, there were no Key 
Decisions pushed through due to the Pandemic without time for an EqIA to be 
completed.  

 

 The EqIA App 
9.11 Following extensive development in 2020-21, KCC’s new EqIA App was 

launched in June 2021. This new method for undertaking, approving and 
publishing EqIAs replaced the old two-stage paper process. Using Microsoft’s 
software, it streamlines and simplifies the process for those undertaking and 
approving EqIAs. It was also created so that all of KCC’s EqIAs could be 
published in one library on KNet, and to provide data on the equalities 
assessments to enable analysis of the EqIAs help inform KCC’s Corporate 
Management Team and the Corporate Equality Group (CEG) about the trends 
and insight gained to support the Council to meet its equality duties.  

 
9.12 Work began in 2021-22 to create an automated Dashboard that collates key 

information about the EqIAs generated through the App. This Dashboard tells 
us that during the first year of operation (June 2021 to March 2022), 84 EqIAs 
were published via the App; 14 from ASCH, 18 from Children, Young People 
& Education (CYPE), 37 from Growth, Environment & Transport (GET), and 
15 from Strategic & Corporate Services (ST). The Dashboard also provides 
data about key aspects of the EqIAs. For example, the majority of them 
related to projects or commissioning and procurement, with others also 
undertaken for strategy/policy, service change or service redesign. The 
Protected Characteristics most typically identified as having either negative or 
positive impacts were age, disability and race, while 94% (76) of the EqIAs 
identified positive impacts through their analysis. Work is being undertaken to 
create an analysis pack drawn from the Dashboard’s data to inform the 
Corporate Equality Group’s work and this will be developed and become a 
regular feature of CEG’s considerations from 2022-23. As more EqIAs are 
undertaken through the App and the longer it is used, this will provide an 
increasingly rich source of data to compare year on year as to how the 
organisation is undertaking equalities considerations.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 
 

9.13 ACCESS TO SERVICES AND THE LOCAL AREA 
 

9.14 Protected characteristics will be considered within all highways and 
transport schemes identified within Local Transport Plan 4, as well as 
the schemes’ potential to advance equality of opportunity 

 
Public Transport 

9.15 In the past year, the transport service has suspended the membership fee 
required to use Kent Karrier41 and automatically renewed all existing 
memberships in order to ensure that vulnerable users are more easily able to 
make use of the service. Members’ carers can also travel with them for no 
additional charge. A number of free Reconnect bus passes were also 
delivered. For travel during Summer 2021, all 11–18-year-olds were able to 
receive a free bus pass, with family bus passes distributed by children’s 
centres and early help or social workers to families in need of support. Free 
family bus passes were also distributed for use during the Christmas holidays 
to families eligible for Free for 2 nursery funding or with children in receipt of 
benefits-relayed free school meals. KCC has funded the provision of the 
Disabled Person+Companion bus pass42 since 2011, whilst this is not a 
statutory duty, this year a decision was made to retain the service to ensure 
that disabled residents are not disadvantaged by travel costs due to their 
inability to travel alone.   

 
9.16  In addition to the statutory requirement for all new bus stops to be accessible, 

KCC has retained a policy of bringing existing bus stops up to current 
accessibility services when other physical changes are being made, in order 
to ensure that disabled residents of Kent are not disadvantaged when 
travelling around the county.  

 
9.17  In the past year, GET has developed the Fastrack Electrification proposal, 

which would see buses on all Fastrack routes in Dartford, Gravesend and the 
new Dover route, replaced with electric alternatives. Whilst this will result in 
cleaner air and less noise pollution for all residents living along the Fastrack 
routes, it is intended that this change will have the greatest impact on 
children, older people and disabled people who have been identified in central 
government research as at greater risk of poor health as a result of pollution. 

 
9.18  In addition, protected characteristics have been considered in the 

development of Vision Zero, the Road Safety Strategy for Kent 2021 – 
202643. There has been a strong focus on age in the strategy, both in 
providing education and protection to younger drivers who are shown to be 
involved in more crashes and supporting older people to maintain mobility as 
they age. Age UK participated in the consultation workshops and was 
supportive of proposals being made. Men are also involved in more car 

                                            
41

 Kent Karrier is a dial-a-ride service provided for people who find it difficult travel on public transport, 
whether this be due to a medical condition, being over the age of 85, or because they live in a rural location. 
42

 Which allows disabled residents of Kent who are unable to travel alone to access off-peak travel on local bus 
services with a companion free of charge. 
43

 This strategy sets a trajectory for the target of achieving zero traffic related deaths by 2050. 

Page 52



 
 

accidents and fatal motorcycle collisions, and are therefore also a target of the 
strategy, to make Kent safer for them as well as other road users and 
pedestrians. The strategy also embraces actions that recognise that 
maintaining real and perceived road safety has the greatest impact on 
vulnerable residents and communities, including those with reduced mobility, 
elderly people, pregnant people, carers, and children. 

 

9.19 The protected characteristics of all members of a community will be 
considered when investing in roads, facilities and utilities that are 
identified through the Growth and Infrastructure Framework, and 
delivered to meet the needs of Kent’s population changes 

 
KCC Highways 

9.20  KCC Highways has delivered a number of highway improvement schemes 
with the intention of equal benefit for all, but particularly those vulnerable 
residents of Kent that make use of public transportation services and may 
have struggled to access these previously. Throughout the planning, design, 
and implementation phases, protected characteristics, accessibility and 
inclusivity have been and will continue to be considered by the officers 
delivering these schemes. The A229 Blue Bell Hill Improvement Scheme44 
will deliver improved pedestrian and cycling facilities, alongside improved 
access to public transport via increased journey time reliability. This will have 
particular benefit to those with mobility issues using footpaths or those who 
have no alternative to bus travel. This connection will also improve access to 
the nearby Crematorium and local places of worship, enhancing the ability of 
residents with religious beliefs to exercise these. It is hoped that, in facilitating 
a robust and safe public transport offer, the proposal for a contraflow bus 
lane on Bath Street, Gravesend45 will bolster the confidence of existing 
users as well as those too nervous to currently use the service, to use public 
transport. This improvement will also reduce the distance that those with 
decreased mobility have to travel to access public transport, thereby 
potentially providing greater independence to people with mild to moderate 
disabilities to use the bus network to travel in Kent. The Paddock Wood 
Junction Improvement Schemes46 include provision of signal-controlled 
pedestrian crossings, which will safeguard pedestrians with vulnerabilities, 
whether this be due to age, disability, pregnancy, maternity or carer 
responsibilities.  

 
Planned Household Waste Recycling Centre (HWRC) Improvements 

9.21  The Waste Management service is working with Corporate Health and Safety 
to obtain guidance on the best colours for kerbing, parking and pedestrian 
walkway lines to improve the experience of visually impaired HWRC users. 

 

                                            
44

 Which provides the shortest route between the M2 and M20, connecting Maidstone with Medway. 
45

 In extending the Fastrack Network, this aims to reduce congestion and improve accessibility of public 
transport, making it a real alternative to use of a private car. 
46

 Which look to mitigate increased traffic in the area emerging from new developments and enhance the 
existing pedestrian facilities. 

Page 53



 
 

9.22 Irrespective of age, disability, race or religion and belief, Kent residents 
should be able to access our county’s high-quality landscapes and 
environment 

 
Public Rights of Way 

9.23  KCC has a policy of least restrictive access for the Public Rights of Way 
(PROW) network. In the 2020-21 financial year, 241 stiles were removed or 
replaced with more accessible structures. The result is that more than 70% of 
the network is now stile free and more accessible to the disabled and elderly. 
COMF funding47 enabled accessibility improvements to be delivered to a 
further 60km of the PROW network.  

 
9.24  Following public feedback regarding the installation of barriers on the Public 

Footpath AU42 at South Willesborough, Ashford, monitoring is now taking 
place of the impact on use. Whilst these barriers are of a nationally accepted 
and used design to prevent inappropriate motorcycle use of the footpath, 
reports have been received that they have restricted access for users with 
large mobility vehicles. Practice around the installation of these barriers is 
now being reviewed in order to ensure the protection and access of Kent’s 
environments for all residents.  

 
Country Parks  

9.25  Utilising funding from the EU Experience Project, Shorne Woods Changing 
Places Toilet facility48 was opened, with work progressing to provide these 
facilities at Lullingstone and Brockhill Country Parks. These facilities enable 
residents and families who are unable to use standard accessible toilets to 
safely visit and enjoy our Country Parks. Work also began to install new and 
upgraded play equipment across eight Country Parks utilising COMF funding. 
These projects include inclusive play equipment, such as the wheelchair 
swing and roundabout which will be completed in 2022-23 at Shorne Woods. 
Access paths have also been improved to the benefit of pushchairs and 
visitors with impaired mobility at many of Kent’s Country Parks, including 
Teston, Shorne Woods, Trosley, Brockhill, Grove, Manor, Pegwell and 
Lullingstone.  

 
Explore Kent 

9.26  In April 2021, Explore Kent secured £22.5k funding from COMF to invest in a 
targeted print and digital marketing campaign to increase engagement with 
green spaces and thereby benefit mental and physical health.49 Population 
groups and geographic locations disproportionately impacted by the COVID-

                                            
47

 ‘Contain Outbreak Management Fund’ for Local Authorities to help tackle COVID-19 and support local public 
health during the Pandemic. 
48

 Changing Places toilets provide changing benches and hoists that are not available at standard accessible 
toilets and enable people with profound learning disabilities or severely limited mobility to use toilet facilities. 
49

 Research following the COVID-19 pandemic and recovery indicated that whilst engagement with green 
spaces improves mental and physical health, these benefits are not enjoyed equally across all sections of the 
community. 

Page 54



 
 

19 pandemic were targeted50, and research was undertaken to understand 
these groups, which include people within the protected characteristic groups 
of disability, race and age. This revealed some of the challenges and barriers 
experienced by these groups when engaging with the outdoors, including 
ease of physical access, lack of targeted information, perceived safety and 
transport availability. This research was utilised to inform the development of 
representative imagery and promotion of appropriate activities for these 
targeted groups as part of the campaign.  

 
  Kent Downs 
9.27  In order to improve the accessibility of Kent’s areas of natural beauty, three 

new easy access routes and shelters have been introduced in the North 
Downs, along with training for 50 ambassadors to facilitate access to the 
North Downs Way National Trail. Kent Downs has also supported the 
introduction of an access for all path to the key viewpoint on the White Cliffs of 
Dover. 

 
9.28  The Farming in Protected Landscapes (FiPL) Programme has delivered farm 

activities for children and young people experiencing mental health difficulties, 
access days for wheelchair and buggy users in partnership with Wild With 
Wheels, and wellbeing events for NHS professionals experiencing post-
COVID-19 trauma. This programme also delivered a celebration of the 
Nepalese Udhauli Festival with the local Nepalese community on the cliffs of 
Dover. This was a particular area of success in encouraging engagement with 
Kent’s landscapes amongst underrepresented communities, as whilst many 
Nepalese people live in Folkestone and Dover, the community does not 
generally visit country parks, with elders of the community in particular tending 
to stay within their residential area.  

 
9.29  The Kent Downs website has also been revamped, with a new focus on 

accessibility and imagery that presents a more diverse range of people 
enjoying the countryside, and the promotion of accessible activities such as 
the Shorne Woods Easy Access photo walk / wheel with a professional 
landscape photographer. 

 

9.30 The Libraries, Registration and Archives (LRA) service in Kent will 
continue to understand its local communities’ needs, and tailor its 
services accordingly 

 
9.31 The ‘Books Beyond Words’ reading groups for people with learning disabilities 

have continued to meet both in person and virtually in the period, with the 
service conducting engagement activities with this group in order to better 
understand their preferences for the continued delivery of the service. This 
engagement has been able to inform service delivery following feedback from 
the group that they prefer to receive communications about the service via 
email. In the last financial year, the service had begun to plan the delivery of 

                                            
50

 The areas targeted by the campaign were Maidstone, Thanet, Medway, Folkestone and Hythe, Dartford, 
Gravesham, Swale and the Isle of Sheppey. 

Page 55



 
 

virtual Dementia Awareness session for staff and volunteers, which were 
successfully delivered in 2021-22.  

 
9.32  Following the COVID-19 pandemic, some library service users still prefer to 

access library services online, due to shielding requirements or disabilities 
that make it difficult to access services in person. In order to continue to 
support these service users, the library service extended the virtual offer of 
the Summer Reading Challenge, allowing virtual participation alongside in 
person participation, which included virtual join-up, virtually recorded activities 
and online storytimes and streaming events.  

 
9.33  LRA also manages the Bookstart service in Kent, which gifts free books to 

babies and toddlers before joining school. This service offers both universal 
packs, plus targeted packs to support those children with a second language, 
or with a disability such as vision loss, hearing loss or conditions affecting fine 
motor skills.  

 
9.34  Following a pilot in 2019, LRA has continued to deliver ‘Playground’ creative 

sensory play sessions for young children aged 0-24 months and their parent 
or carer with artists at a number of Kent libraries. EqIAs conducted for these 
sessions have enabled the service to identify and implement more 
proportionate representation of race across the artists and customers in the 
continued delivery of the sessions.   

 

9.35  The quality and range of services are improved through increasing 
engagement with service users and carers 

 
9.36  LRA frequently engages with its customers to ensure services are meeting 

their needs and delivered according to the preferences of often vulnerable 
people. The EqIA for plans for 2022 Engagement identified a preference 
within the ‘Books Beyond Words’ reading groups for audio versions of the 
engagement documents, rather than Easy Read versions. This feedback was 
then implemented.  

 
9.37 The Public Transport service has also undertaken engagement activity 

throughout the development of the Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) and 
Enhance Partnership (EP) Schemes. This has resulted in a number of 
initiatives being proposed as part of the BSIP relating to accessibility 
standards, including bus stop accessibility improvements; audio 
announcements and Real Time Information screens at bus stops; audio and 
visual announcements on buses; new services to fill network gaps, and fare 
initiatives to support identified groups.   

  
9.38 The Sport & Physical Activity service has identified that across all service 

provision, underrepresented groups to be targeted include people with 
disabilities or long-term health conditions, people from culturally diverse 
communities and people from lower socio-economic groups. Active Kent has 
secured and distributed funding, including £222,000 from Sport England, to 
mitigate the negative impact of COVID-19 and reduce the widening 
inequalities gap of physical activity and sport among underrepresented groups 

Page 56



 
 

across a number of projects, including the launch of the Sheppey Matters 
Nordic Walking project for those with reduced mobility, and Inclusive Sport 
online activity sessions for children and adults with a disability in Thanet which 
were both launched in 2021-22.51 The Everyday Active campaign has 
continued to evolve, with the recruitment of two further local Champions52 and 
the addition of a new home page video to the Everyday Active website to 
promote and reflect our work with underrepresented groups.   

 

9.39  Ensure that when we use Information Communication Technology (ICT) 
it is fully accessible for learning, working and getting into services 

 
9.40  A Website Accessibility Audit of kent.gov.uk, including its external systems 

and applications undertaken in June 202153 identified some minor points of 
improvement, which included the use of promotional banner images 
containing text. As a result, the digital team changed their approach to this 
promotional material.54 The Digital Accessibility team has also continued to 
widen their training offer, which has included workshops on how to create 
inclusive and accessible content for the web and social media, and a new e-
learning course55. This training has been strongly attended and contributes to 
improving the accessibility of ICT systems used by both staff and service 
users. To support continuous improvement with this objective, the team 
continues to liaise with KCC’s Staff Groups, the Sensory Services team and 
external disability bodies to share knowledge and are actively recruiting a 
dedicated Digital Accessibility Lead to continue evolving this work. The 
Council’s Video Accessibility Guidelines were also updated to ensure staff 
creating video content understand the accessibility requirements56, and that 
these standards are built into video projects from the beginning. Additionally, 
KCC has introduced British Sign Language (BSL) translation as a standard 
requirement for any film work. In support of this, on-page BSL video 
translations of key Kent Together cost of living support content have been 
produced, BSL videos or SignHealth content have been signposted to with 
COVID-19 pandemic updates on Kent.gov webpages, and a dedicated playlist 
of original KCC BSL content has been launched on KCC’s YouTube channel 
in collaboration with Sensory Services.  

 
 
 
 
 

                                            
51

 For further information on these projects and others, see the following links: case studies, short films. 
52

 Who promote Everyday Active campaigns and activities in their areas. 
53

 This audit was undertaken by the Website Accessibility Monitoring team at the Central Digital and Data 
Office. 
54

 A subsequent audit by KCC’s in-house digital accessibility team found that these changes rendered 
kent.gov.uk compliant. 
55

 This is being developed by KCC with funding and collaboration from Kent Connects. 
56

 Including transcripts, subtitles, captions or audio description. 

Page 57

https://activekent.org/health-wellbeing/tackling-inequalities/tif-case-studies-page/tif-disability-lthc-case-studies/sheppey-matters-tackling-inequalities-case-study-updated-nov-21/
https://activekent.org/health-wellbeing/tackling-inequalities/tif-case-studies-page/tif-disability-lthc-case-studies/sheppey-matters-tackling-inequalities-case-study-updated-nov-21/
https://activekent.org/health-wellbeing/tackling-inequalities/tif-case-studies-page/tif-disability-case-studies/inclusive-sport-tackling-inequalities-case-study-updated-nov-21/
https://activekent.org/health-wellbeing/tackling-inequalities/tif-case-studies-page/tif-disability-case-studies/inclusive-sport-tackling-inequalities-case-study-updated-nov-21/
https://www.everydayactivekent.org.uk/
https://www.kent.gov.uk/social-care-and-health/health/protect-kent-and-medway/help-and-advice-for-residents/kent-together#tab-1,2,3,4,5
https://signhealth.org.uk/resources/coronavirus/
https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PL3OpCNuLFkG4b4v4mJcbuPGRpZw3VHQvX
https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PL3OpCNuLFkG4b4v4mJcbuPGRpZw3VHQvX
https://activekent.org/health-wellbeing/tackling-inequalities/tif-case-studies-page/
https://activekent.org/health-wellbeing/tackling-inequalities/tif-films-page/


 
 

10. Looking ahead 
 
10.1 In 2021-22, through the recovery phase of the COVID-19 pandemic, many of 

the service innovations introduced in response have continued to be 
delivered, with an additional focus on reintroducing and enabling in-person 
services to prevent or mitigate digital exclusion. As we look ahead, taking into 
account the progress made in the past year, it will be important for the Council 
to continue to draw upon and develop the innovations around delivery of 
equality and diversity outcomes. The Council has been able to adapt and 
develop expertise according to emerging equalities issues occurring both 
nationwide and within the county, for example, in supporting Afghan and 
Ukrainian refugees, as well as further developing the offer for young people, 
LGBTQ+ people, Gypsy Roma and Traveller people and people from Black or 
Minority Ethnic backgrounds. The report has demonstrated that much of this 
has been possible as a result of improved and proactive engagement with 
communities across a number of services - particularly individuals with lived 
experience, and the sharing of expertise across directorates to ensure 
equality and diversity are understood in the development, commissioning and 
delivery of policy, services and projects.  

 
10.2  Whilst the scope of this report focuses on the period of the 2021-22 financial 

year, subsequent action has taken place either in response to a number of the 
activities covered in this report, or is worth noting ahead of the 2023-22 
reporting period:  

 

 The Council acknowledged and apologised for the failings that took place 
regarding the changes to SEND Transport and their impact on families and 
has been committed to reviewing what took place and why in order to 
ensure a similar situation does not occur again. An extensive Lessons 
Learned review by KCC’s Internal Audit department was taken to the 
Governance and Audit Committee and the Scrutiny Committee on the 29 
September and 11 October respectively. This review identified specific 
areas for improvement including governance arrangements and 
communication with parents, which will be key areas of focus going 
forward.  

 In light of feedback from KCC’s Staff Groups, the Council has completed a 
review of its strategy for supporting Staff Groups. This has resulted in the 
introduction of allocated time for lead Staff Group roles to manage and run 
the groups, the development of guidance on Staff Groups at KCC and the 
agreement of criteria for decision making about the formation of new Staff 
Groups.  

 Where the Inclusivity Indicator has shown we have more to do, KCC is 
delivering a number of activities as set out in the Council’s race, disability 
and mental health action plans. These include a requirement to include at 
least one recruitment question around inclusion, a reverse mentoring 
programme, building race equality measures into performance 
management conversations, and creating an inclusive culture through a 
number of organisation-wide conversations about inclusion. 

 An audit of the Equalities Act (Duties) 2010 took place over Summer 2022 
and reported to the Governance and Audit Committee on 29 September. It 

Page 58



 
 

highlighted areas for improvement in KCC’s delivery of the Equality duty, 
which will be supported by our ongoing development and interrogation of 
the EqIA App Dashboard and improved governance processes to ensure 
the inclusion of EqIAs within all Key Decision reports.  
 

The Council will continue to take these activities forward to ensure our 
approach to these equalities issues is improved for the future. 

 
10.3 Alongside embracing these learning opportunities, the Council will also take 

forward the areas of success. In particular, this year has indicated that a step-
change has begun in the development of data collection and analysis, to 
enable better understanding of service users with equalities vulnerabilities and 
how we are responding to their needs. In addition, there has been an 
increasing awareness in the identification of how protected characteristics 
intersect with each other, with services recognising how people with multiple 
protected characteristics, and therefore increased challenges, may be 
affected. Going forward, this will continue to be a priority for the Council as 
part of our new corporate equality objectives.  

 
10.4  The new corporate equality objectives for 2022-26 have been embedded 

within the Council’s strategic statement Framing Kent’s Future for the first 
time, demonstrating KCC’s commitment that equality and diversity 
considerations are integral to everything we do. These new objectives are as 
follows:  

 Continue to be an inclusive employer which provides fair, open and 
equitable access to career progression and a trusted environment in which 
staff feel confident to call out discriminatory behaviour.  

 Attract and retain a diverse workforce at all levels of the organisation 
which reflects the communities that KCC serves.  

 Strengthen our equality data collection and analysis across our services to 
better understand people’s needs and the cumulative impact of the 
council’s actions on people with protected characteristics.  

 Work with our strategic partnerships to understand and support the diverse 
needs of our communities.  

 Promote equality, diversity and inclusion through our supply chains, 
including our trading companies.  

 Ensure council information and services are accessible for everyone 
including those who are digitally excluded. 

 
10.5  KCC has already begun to build on achieving equalities outcomes around 

these themes in the 2021-22 year, and with the strategic shift from service-
specific to organisation-wide objectives, it will be important to embed these 
new objectives across the directorates. Our focus will be the development of a 
council-wide assessment framework to achieve and monitor these objectives 
over the next four years.  

 

Page 59

https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/136431/Framing-Kents-Future-strategy-document.pdf


 
 

10.6 The release of the 2021 census information later in 2022 also marks a 
valuable opportunity to understand our residents and service users, and 
enhance the Council’s ability to understand, assess and deliver on equality 
and diversity matters going forward. The learning and innovations of the last 
year present significant opportunities to improve our equalities work going 
forward, no less the launch of the EqIA App and opportunity to harness 
council-wide equality assessment data from this. The continued development 
and refinement of this as an important analytical tool will be a key piece of 
work in the coming year.   

 

Page 60



From: Peter Oakford, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Corporate and Traded Services 

    
  Rebeca Spore, Director of Infrastructure 
 
To:  Policy and Resources Cabinet Committee - 23 November 2022 
 
Subject: Disposal of the Former Laleham Gap School, Southcliffe Parade, 

Broadstairs CT10 1TJ 
 
Classification: Unrestricted report with exempt appendix A, not for publication 

under Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 - Information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority 
holding that information). 

 
Past pathway of report: N/A 
 
Future Pathway of report: Member decision – 22/00106 
 
Electoral Division: Broadstairs, Rosalind Binks  

 

 
Summary: This report considers the proposed disposal of the property, the former 
Laleham Gap School and playing field, Southcliffe Parade, Broadstairs CT10 1TJ.   
 
Recommendations:   
 
The Policy and Resources Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and endorse or make 
recommendations to the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, Corporate and 
Traded Services on the proposed decision to agree the disposal of the property, the 
former Laleham Gap School and playing field, Southcliffe Parade, Broadstairs CT10 1TJ 
and delegate authority to: 
 
1. The Director of Infrastructure, in consultation with the Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Finance, Corporate and Traded Services, to finalise the terms of the 
disposal; and 
 
2. The Director of Infrastructure to authorise the execution of all necessary or 
desirable documentation required to implement the above. 
 

 
1. Introduction 
  
1.1 This paper addresses Kent County Council’s (KCC) intention to sell the former 
Laleham Gap School and playing field, which totals approx. 2.6 acres (1.05 hectares).  
 
1.2 The site is made up of two parcels of land; the larger site on which the school 
building is located and fronts Southcliffe Parade; and the smaller playing field site which 
is accessed via Whytecliffs Road. The two parcels are divided by a pedestrian path, as 
seen in the red-line boundary plans attached in Appendix B. 
 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



1.3 The two sites are located in a predominantly residential area situated south of 
Broadstairs and north of Ramsgate in the area of Dumpton Park, on the sea front, 
approximately one mile east of Dumpton Park Train Station.  
 

1.4 The larger school building site overlooks Dumpton Gap beach and Dumpton Bay 
and is bounded by Southcliffe Parade to the north and east, residential buildings to the 
south and the pedestrian walkway to the west. The smaller playing field site is situated 
adjacent to the residential roads of Whytecliffs and Boughton Avenue and is surrounded 
by residential buildings and the pedestrian walkway on the eastern boundary.  
 

1.5 The school building site is set back from Southcliffe Parade and slopes from the 
southern boundary – which is the highest part of the site to the northern boundary – 
which is the lowest point. The playing field site is level with the surrounding land and 
buildings on Whytecliffs road and it set lower than the land and buildings on Boughton 
Avenue.  
 

1.6 The playing field site is covered entirely by grass. The larger school building site is 
surfaced predominantly with grass but also contains a tarmac driveway with entrance and 
exit access to the highway, a parking area, a hardstanding playground as well as the 
school building and outbuildings. There are trees located over the site with a line of trees 
running along the boundary with the walkway and the boundary along Southcliffe Parade.  
 
1.7 A site plan is shown in Appendix B. 
 

2. History  
 
2.1 The Title to the Freehold was compulsory acquired by the Council in 1948.    
 

2.2 The site became vacant in 2016 following a relocation of the school to a new site. 
Since this date alternative service needs have been considered however, none have 
been identified and it remains vacant. It has been allocated as surplus and suitable for 
disposal. 
 

2.3 Subsequent to the relocation of the school to a new site, the Council have gained 
consent of the Secretary of State for Education to dispose of the school site and the 
playing field under Schedule 1 of the Academies Act 2010 and Section 77 of the School 
Standards and Framework Act 1998.   
 

2.4 In 2017 and in conjunction with planning consultants, the Council sought pre-
application advice from Thanet District Council (TDC) for a proposed residential 
development on the separate parcels of land. The pre-application was received positively 
and subsequently, both parcels have been allocated for housing within the TDC Local 
Plan (2020) under policy HO1 and known as ‘Gap House School, 1 Southcliffe Parade, 
Broadstairs’.  
 
3. Financial Implications 
 
3.1 The sale of the property will result in a capital receipt which will be reinvested back 
into the Council’s Capital programme. Further financial information is set out in the 
exempt appendix A.  
 
3.2 The disposal of the property will remove associated holding costs whilst easing 
pressure on revenue budgets.  

Page 62



4. Marketing 
 
4.1 Subject to the necessary approvals being forthcoming, KCC will appoint a suitably 
qualified agent to openly market the site in quarter one of 2023 on an “all enquiries” basis 
to allow any interested parties to submit a bid for the site. 
 
4.2 A marketing campaign to advertise the site through various media channels will be 
undertaken to ensure a wide potential audience is reached; appropriate due diligence will 
be undertaken on any bidders. 
 
4.3 Bids will be appraised in line with the Council’s legislative and fiduciary duties, and 
in compliance with the Freehold asset disposal policy. 
 
4.4 Following the formal submission of bids, the bids will be assessed considering the 
following criteria:   
 
 Overall price, any pricing caveats, or exclusions  
 Any conditionality on the proposals and deliverability 
 Compliance with the Local Plan affordable housing requirements, if appropriate   
 Deliverability of the proposals submitted if they are reliant on the planning process   
 Funding security   
 Any factors of opportunity cost that KCC may wish to consider other than those 

described above delivering operational or policy returns.  
 
4.5. Due diligence will be undertaken as appropriate which may include valuation, 
planning or other specialist advice.  
 
4.6. Following the consideration of initial bids, ‘best and final’ offers may be requested. It 
is proposed to select the best submission that enables KCC to deliver the maximum 
capital receipt for the Council (considering the factors described in 4.4). 
 

5. Options 
 
5.1. Following internal consideration, no operational requirement for the site has been 
established. Therefore, the only options to be considered were limited to holding the 
property or disposal.   
 
5.2. Continuing to hold leaves the Council exposed to ongoing costs, and the buildings 
on site remain an inherent risk.  
 
5.3. The exempt appendix A sets out the approaches considered by the Council since 
the site was declared surplus.  
 
5.4. A freehold disposal will allow a capital receipt to be generated for reinvestment back 
into the Council’s stated capital priorities.  
 
5.5. A freehold disposal is the preferred option for the site, seeking offers on an “all 
enquiries” basis to ensure all market interest is explored in line with the Council’s 
statutory duties.   
 
 
 
 

Page 63



6. Governance and Legal implications 
 
6.1. A Key Decision is being sought in line with the constitution and the Council’s 
governance processes. The views of the local Member in accordance with the property 
management protocol have been sought and will be reported to the Cabinet Member 
before a Key Decision is taken.  
 
6.2. The Council has a duty under s123 of the 1972 Local Government Act to obtain not 
less than best consideration in the disposal of property assets. 
 

6.3. External legal advisors will be appointed in consultation with General Counsel.                
 
7. Equalities implications (EQIA) 
 
7.1. The Key Decision to be taken by the Cabinet Member does not relate to a service 
delivery or change. 
 
7.2. The site has been vacant since 2016 and has already been declared surplus to the 
Council’s operational requirements.  
 
7.3. An EQIA has been undertaken and has identified no impact on any groups with 
protected characteristics in relation to the proposed decision. 
 

8. Consultation 
 

The local Member for the division has been consulted and has provided no comment or 
objection at the point of the drafting of this report. If any comments are subsequently 
received prior to the meeting, they will be reported to the Cabinet Committee and to the 
Cabinet Member.  
 
9. Next Steps and Conclusions 
 
9.1. An indicative timetable for the planned disposal is set out below: 

 
9.2. The site has been declared surplus to the Council’s operational requirements and a 
disposal decision is now sought from the Cabinet Member, in accordance with the 
Council’s strategy of recycling assets to produce capital receipts for reinvestment into 
capital project priorities. 

 

 
10. Recommendations 
 
The Policy and Resources Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and endorse or make 
recommendations to the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, Corporate and 
Traded Services on the proposed decision to agree to the disposal of the property, the 

Stage Timescale 

Marketing  Q1 2023 

Bid appraisal  Q1 2023/Q2 2023 

Exchange  Q2 2023 

Completion assuming unconditional sale Q2 2023 

Completion assuming conditional sale Q1 2024 (subject to terms agreed with 
selected bidder) 

Page 64



former Laleham Gap School and playing field, Southcliffe Parade, Broadstairs CT10 1TJ 
and delegate authority to: 
 
1.  The Director of Infrastructure, in consultation with the Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Finance, Corporate and Traded Services, to finalise the terms of the 
disposal; and   
 
2.  The Director of Infrastructure to authorise the execution of all necessary or 
desirable documentation required to implement the above. 
 

 
11. Background Documents 
 
Appendix A – Exempt Appendix  
Appendix B – Site Plan 
Appendix C – Proposed Record of Decision 
  
 
12. Contact details 

 
Lead Officer: 
Hugh D’Alton 
Investment & Disposals 
03000 41 88 35 
Hugh.D’Alton@kent.gov.uk 
 
Karen Frearson MRICS 
Head of Property Strategy, 
Infrastructure 
03000 41 62 93 
karen.frearson@kent.gov.uk 

Relevant Director:  
Rebecca Spore 
Director of Infrastructure 
03000 41 67 16 
rebecca.spore@kent.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 65

mailto:Hugh.DAlton@kent.gov.uk
mailto:karen.frearson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:rebecca.spore@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 67

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



WESTERN

SOUTH

BO
UG

HT
ON

SOUTH CLIFF

CLIFF

WALD
RON ROAD

BO
UG

HT
ON

 AV
EN

UE

ROAD

WHYTECLIF
FS

SEACROFT

AV
EN

UE
PARADE

1
2

17

10

1615

4
9

3

7

12

22

19

21a

14

11
30

26

27

23

Shelter

8

6

Sub

Lynford

Post
Dumpton Gap

15.7m

23.5m

17.9m

Hut

Path
TCB

Gap House

School

Aquitaine

Manana

6

2

PARADE

12

11

14

3

2

15

Lynford

3
1

11

3

7

1

2

8

Pa
th

ESPLANADE

27

Sta

School

El

32

PCs

Gap House

639400

639400

639500

639500

166500 166500

166600 166600

166700 166700

Based upon the Ordnance Survey map with the permission
of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
(C) Crown Copyright Licence No. LA076708.
Additional information copyright Kent County Council PROPERTY GROUP

County Hall, Maidstone
Kent ME14 1XQ

Tel:08458 247247
0 10 20 30 40 50 60 705

Meters

1:1250

Drawn By
KP

Date

AUG 2009
Drawing No.

TR3966/2U

LAND AT LALEHAM GAP SCHO0L
BOUGHTON AVENUE 
BROADSTAIRS
UPRN 78810100

MasterMap

@ A4
Page 71



23.5m
19

14

Hut

6

SOUTH

Sand

Sand

2

7

Post

6

SEACROFT

11

Lynford

2

PARADE

12

El
Sta

15.7m

7

2

Pa
th

PA
RA

DE

8

Path

9

ROAD

14

16

8

Gap School

3

Sa
nd

3

15

1

17.9m

4

BO
UG

HT
ON

 AV
EN

UE

10

CLIFF

Dumpton Gap

11

15

WHYTE
CLIFFS

1

17

Laleham

2

Sa
nd

 an
d S

hin
gle

Manana

Aquitaine

Sub

PCs

Sand

639400

639400

639500

639500

639600

639600

166
500

166
500

166
600

166
600

166
700

166
700

Based upon the Ordnance Survey map with the permission
of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
(C) Crown Copyright & database right 2011.
Ordnance Survey 100019238.
Additional information copyright Kent County Council PROPERTY AND

INFRASTRUCTURE SUPPORT
County Hall, Maidstone

Kent ME14 1XQ
Tel:08458 247247

0 10 20 30 40 50 605
Meters

1:1250

Drawn By

KP
Date

JUN 2014
Drawing No.

TR3966/2Y

LALEHAM GAP SCHOOL
1 SOUTHCLIFFE PARADE
BROADSTAIRS
CT10 1TJ

¯
MasterMap

@ A4

Legend
KCC Freehold

Page 72



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL – PROPOSED RECORD OF DECISION 
 

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: 

Peter Oakford, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 

Finance, Corporate and Traded Services 

   
DECISION NO: 

22/00106 

 

 

For publication 
 

Key decision: YES, the decision will result in savings or expenditure which is significant having regard to 

the budget for the service or function (currently defined by the Council as in excess of £1,000,000). 
 
 

Title: Disposal of the Former Laleham Gap School, Southcliffe Parade, Broadstairs CT10 1TJ 
 

Decision:  

 
As the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, Corporate and Traded Services, I agree to 
the disposal of the property, the former Laleham Gap School and playing field, Southcliffe Parade, 
Broadstairs CT10 1TJ and delegate authority to: 
 

1. The Director of Infrastructure, in consultation with the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Finance, Corporate and Traded Services, to finalise the terms of the disposal; and  

 
2. The Director of Infrastructure to authorise the execution of all necessary or desirable 

documentation required to implement the above.  
 
 

Reason(s) for decision: 
The property is surplus to the Council’s operational requirements and due to the value requires a 
key decision per Kent County Council’s constitution.  
 
The sale of the property will result in a capital receipt which will be reinvested back into the Council’s 
Capital programme. 

Cabinet Committee recommendations and other consultation:  
The matter is due to be considered by the Policy and Resources Cabinet Committee on 23 
November 2022.  
 
The views of the local member have been sought per the Council’s constitution and any comments 
provided will be reported to the Cabinet Committee meeting and Cabinet Member taking the 
decision. 

Any alternatives considered and rejected: 
The Council has an overarching duty under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 to 
secure not less than best consideration in respect of property disposals. It also has a fiduciary duty 
to the residents of Kent.  
 
The property is not required for the Council’s operational purposes and has been considered surplus 
to education needs following the relocation of the school to the new site.  Since vacation of the 
school site, alternative service needs were considered, and none have been identified. A disposal 
provides an opportunity to reinvest capital in agreed priorities, as set out in the Council’s Capital 
programme.   

Any interest declared when the decision was taken and any dispensation granted by the 

Proper Officer: None. 
 

 
.........................................................................  .................................................................. 

 signed   date 
   

Page 73



01/decision/glossaries/FormC 2 

 

Page 74



 

From:  Peter Oakford, Deputy Leader, Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Corporate and Traded Services 
 

   Ben Watts, General Counsel 
 
To:   Policy and Resources Cabinet Committee – 23 November 2022 
 
Subject:  Work Programme 2023 

   
Classification: Unrestricted   

  
Past Pathway of Paper:  None 
 
Future Pathway of Paper: Standard item  
 

Summary: This report gives details of the proposed work programme for the Policy 
and Resources Cabinet Committee. 
 
Recommendation:  The Policy and Resources Cabinet Committee is asked to 
consider and note its planned work programme for 2023 

 
1. Introduction  

 
1.1 The proposed Work Programme has been compiled from items on the 

Forthcoming Executive Decision List, from actions arising from previous 
meetings and from topics identified at agenda setting meetings, held 6 weeks 
before each Cabinet Committee meeting, in accordance with the Constitution, 
and attended by the Chair, Vice-Chair and group spokesmen.  

 
1.2 Whilst the Chair, in consultation with the Cabinet Members, is responsible for 

the final selection of items for the agenda, this item gives all Members of the 
Cabinet Committee the opportunity to suggest amendments and additional 
agenda items where appropriate. 
 

2. Terms of Reference 
 
2.1 At its meeting held on 27 March 2014, the County Council agreed the following 

terms of reference for the Policy and Resources Cabinet Committee “To be 
responsible for those functions that fall within the Strategic and Corporate 
Services Directorate” and these should also inform the suggestions made by 
Members for appropriate matters for consideration. 

 
3. Work Programme 2023 
 
3.1 The Cabinet Committee is requested to consider and note the items within the 

proposed Work Programme, set out in the appendix to this report, and to 
suggest any additional topics to be considered for inclusion on agendas of 
future meetings.   

 
3.2 The schedule of commissioning activity that falls within the remit of this Cabinet 

Committee will be included in the Work Programme and is considered at 

Page 75

Agenda Item 8



 

agenda setting meetings to support more effective forward agenda planning and 
allow Members to have oversight of significant services delivery decisions in 
advance. 
 

3.3  When selecting future items, the Cabinet Committee should consider 
performance monitoring reports.  Any ‘for information’ or briefing items will be 
sent to Members of the Cabinet Committee separately to the agenda or 
separate member briefings will be arranged where appropriate. 

 
4. Conclusion 
 
4.1 It is important for the Cabinet Committee process that the Committee takes 

ownership of its work programme to help the Cabinet Members to deliver 
informed and considered decisions. A regular report will be submitted to each 
meeting of the Cabinet Committee to give updates on requested topics and to 
seek suggestions for future items to be considered.  This does not preclude 
Members making requests to the Chair or the Democratic Services Officer 
between meetings for consideration. 

 

5. Recommendation:  The Policy and Resources Cabinet Committee is asked to 
consider and note its planned work programme for 2023 

 
6. Background Documents 
 None. 
 
7. Contact details 

Report Author:  
Theresa Grayell 
Democratic Services Officer 
03000 416172 
theresa.grayell@kent.gov.uk 
 

Relevant Director: 
Benjamin Watts 
General Counsel 
03000 416814 
benjamin.watts@kent.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 76

mailto:benjamin.watts@kent.gov.uk


 

Last updated 14 November 22  

POLICY AND RESOURCES CABINET COMMITTEE - WORK PROGRAMME 2023 
 
 

 
18 January 2023 – 10 am  
 

 Draft Revenue and Capital Budget and Medium-Term 
Financial Plan (regular Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 
update was moved from November) 

Zena Cooke 

Dave Shipton 
Regular item 

 Contract Management Review Group update Clare Maynard 
Chris Wimhurst 

Regular item 

 Implementation of the Armed Forces Covenant in Kent 
 

Tim Woolmer 
Canon Peter Bruinvels 

Regular item 

 Strategic and Corporate Service Directorate Performance 
Dashboard 

David Whittle  
Rachel Kennard   

Regular item 

 Disposal of Phase II Youth Centre Site, Station Road, New 
Romney 

Karen Frearson 

Alister Fawley 

Key Decision 

 Disposal of land and properties at Victoria Road and Park 
Crescent Road, Margate 

Karen Frearson 

Hugh D’Alton 

Key Decision  

 Kent Public Service Network (KPSN) Lisa Gannon Regular item 

 Work Programme 2023 
 

  

 
9 March 2023 – 10 am 
 

 Risk Management (Including RAG ratings) David Whittle  
Mark Scrivener  

Regular item 

 Facilities Management update (bi-annual) 
 

Rebecca Spore Regular item  

 Update on asset management plan March or later (tbc) 

 

Karen Frearson 

Mark Cheverton 

Deferral from May meeting requested by 
Infrastructure team 

 Regular Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) update  Zena Cooke Regular item – every other meeting 

P
age 77



 

Last updated 14 November 22  

Dave Shipton 

 Cyber Security 
 

Lisa Gannon Regular item 

 Work Programme 2023 
 

  

 
11 May 2023 – 10 am 
 

 Strategic and Corporate Service Directorate Performance 
Dashboard 

David Whittle  
Rachel Kennard   

Regular item 

 Work Programme 2023 
 

  

 
4 July 2023 – 2 pm 
 

 Contract Management Review Group update Clare Maynard 
Chris Wimhurst 

Regular item 

 Regular Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) update  Zena Cooke 
Dave Shipton 

Regular item – every other meeting 

 Work Programme 2023 
 

  

 
 

  PATTERN OF REGULAR ITEMS  
 

JANUARY  
 

Annual 
 

Draft Revenue and Capital Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan Zena Cooke 

Dave Shipton 

Annual  Implementation of the Armed Forces Covenant in Kent 
 

Tim Woolmer 

Every other 
meeting 
 

Strategic and Corporate Service Directorate Performance Dashboard David Whittle  
Rachel Kennard   

Six-monthly 
 

Contract Management Review Group update  Clare Maynard 
Chris Wimhurst  

P
age 78



 

Last updated 14 November 22  

MARCH  
 

Annual 
 

Risk Management (Including RAG ratings) David Whittle  
Mark Scrivener  

Annual  Cyber Security 
 

Lisa Gannon 

Six-monthly 
 

Facilities Management update Rebecca Spore 

Every other 
meeting 
 

Regular Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) update  Zena Cooke 

Dave Shipton 

MAY 
 

Every other 
meeting 
 

Strategic and Corporate Service Directorate Performance Dashboard David Whittle  
Rachel Kennard   

JULY 
 

Six-monthly 
 

Contract Management Review Group update  Clare Maynard 
Chris Wimhurst  

Every other 
meeting 
 

Regular Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) update Zena Cooke 
Dave Shipton 

SEPTEMBER Six-monthly 
 

Facilities Management update Rebecca Spore 

Every other 
meeting 
 

Strategic and Corporate Service Directorate Performance Dashboard David Whittle  
Rachel Kennard   

NOVEMBER/ 
DECEMBER 
 

Annual  
 

Annual Equality and Diversity Report (in 2022 moved to January) David Whittle 

Every other 
meeting 
 

Regular Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) update Zena Cooke 
Dave Shipton 

              
 

P
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 81

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 93

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the meeting held on 11 October 2022
	6 Annual Equality and Diversity Report 2021-22
	Item 6 Appendix A - KCC Annual Equality & Diversity Report 2021-22

	7 Disposal of the Former Laleham Gap School, Southcliffe Parade, Broadstairs CT10 1TJ
	Item 7 EXEMPT Appendix A - to Exec Decision Report Laleham Gap
	Item 7 UNRESTRICTED Appendix B - Laleham Broadstairs Site Plans Decision Report PR Nov 22
	Laleham Broadstairs field plan
	Laleham Broadstairs school plan

	Item 7 UNRESTRICTED Appendix C - Proposed Record of Decision - Laleham Gap

	8 Work Programme 2023
	Work Programme 2022  MASTER

	9 Property Accommodation Strategy -Strategic Headquarters Update and Next Steps
	Item 9 - EXEMPT PR SLIDES 23 November - PR REPORT 23 November - Property Accommodation Strategy SHQ.rev 1


